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For the 52-week periods ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005  2005  2004

Results for the year (in millions)

Total revenues $ 6,238  $ 6,230 

Interest expense, net   49    55 

Earnings before unusual items and income taxes   210   193

Unusual items – (gain) expense   (748)   3

Income taxes   187   61

Net earnings   771    129 

Year end position (in millions)

Inventories $ 788  $ 790 

Working capital  219   1,318

Total assets   3,199   4,262

Shareholders’ equity   645   1,877

Per share of capital stock (in dollars)

Net earnings $ 7.22 $ 1.21

Dividends declared   14.50    0.24 

Return of capital   4.38    – 

Shareholders’ equity   6.01   17.67
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SEARS. YOUR DESTINATION STORE.
Continuing to make Sears the destination store for Canadians 
from coast to coast, our plan is divided into three areas of focus: 
Merchandising Strategy, Channel Strategy, and New Initiatives.

STRATEGIC PLAN

Merchandising

Channel

New Initiatives

• Destination Businesses

• Merchandising Category 
Productivity/Profi tability

• Sears Value Strategy

• Strategic Sourcing

• Corporate Store 
Productivity/Profi tability

• Free-standing Corporate Stores

• Dealer Concepts

• Internet Shopping

• Cantrex Group

• JPMorgan Chase

• Amazon Alliance

• Lean, Profi table Structure
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WOMEN’S WEAR
More Canadians spend more of their apparel 

dollars at Sears than anywhere else. Sears 

popular private brands such as Jessica, 

Tradition, and Nevada are complemented 

by a strategic selection of national brands. 

Addressing fi ts from petite, to regular 

and to women’s plus sizes, Sears meets 

the fashion needs of Canadian women 

coast to coast.



MEN’S WEAR
Sears men’s wear provides options for 

a wide range of customers, from young 

men’s styles, to contemporary casual wear 

and dress wear, and to clothing for the 

more mature customer. Private brands 

such as Nevada, Retreat, Weir Golf, Arnold 

Palmer and Protocol offer today’s fashion 

styling at moderate prices.



HOME 
FURNISHINGS
Home Furnishings, featuring Whole Home 

furniture and Sears-O-Pedic mattress sets, 

brings life to our customers’ homes with 

décor that refl ects the latest home trends in 

affordable design options. With thousands 

of custom choices available in all our 

channels including Sears Home stores, 

Sears meets the needs of a wide variety 

of consumers.  



MAJOR 
APPLIANCES
Sears sells more major appliances than 

any other retailer in Canada. Although 

we sell all well-known national brands, 

Sears private brand, Kenmore, is the best 

selling brand in the country. We service 

all major appliances coast to coast to provide 

continued confi dence and peace of mind 

to our customers before, during and after 

the sale.



HOME DÉCOR
Home Décor includes Housewares, Window 

Coverings and Bed & Bath which provide 

solutions for kitchens, living and dining areas, 

bedrooms and bathrooms. Whole Home 

and Martha Stewart Everyday lead the brand 

selection and are complemented by popular 

national brands. We sell more window 

coverings, bed coverings and bath towels 

than any other retailer in Canada.



COSMETICS & 
ACCESSORIES
Sears offers Canada’s most popular lines 

of Cosmetic brands including Clinique, 

Estée Lauder, Lancôme, Clarins and 

Elizabeth Arden. A key advantage is that 

every Sears department store provides 

personal service for our customers through 

highly trained Beauty Advisors who ensure 

that skincare concerns are addressed with 

personalized regimens and products that 

provide solutions.  
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LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
A Message from Brent Hollister, President and Chief Executive Offi cer

Our fourth straight year of improved earnings per share refl ects the 
Company’s ongoing efforts toward achieving our goal of making Sears 
a Great Place to Grow, Shop, Work and Invest. 

At our annual meeting in April, 2005 we described our new Strategic Plan 
which is divided into three areas of focus as shown on Page 1: 
Merchandising Strategy, Channel Strategy, and New Initiatives. 

Merchandising Strategy:
The merchandising focus is on
• Destination businesses,
• Category productivity and profi tability,
• Sears Value Strategy and
• Strategic sourcing. 

Destination businesses are categories of 
merchandise where consumer research indicates 
Sears has established an authority position 
with customers. These categories are 
Women’s Wear, Men’s Wear, Home Furnishings, 
Major Appliances, Home Décor, and 
Cosmetics & Accessories. We are leaders in 
these destination businesses, and committed 
to investing in new product, larger selling 
spaces and an enhanced customer experience.

Our continuous investment activity process in 
destination businesses is referred to internally as 
“recharge”. The recharge process infuses energy 
to help protect and grow the leadership position. 
In 2005, we recharged Major Appliances by 
expanding most of our in-store departments, 

increasing catalogue pages, conducting intense 
product knowledge education for our sales 
associates, and introducing new product. 
We began to see the results of our efforts 
with double-digit sales increases in the 
fourth quarter. As we head into 2006, we 
will recharge other Destination businesses 
to realize similar successes.

During 2005, we moved Home Furnishings 
(furniture) back into 12 full-line stores. The 
decision was based on the conclusion that, 
for some markets, suitable sites for profi table 
off-mall Sears Home stores were not available, 
yet our customers wanted to be able to shop 
in person for furniture. We also determined 
that, for some markets where a nearby Sears 
Home store existed, our full-line store space 
was adequate to house home furnishings and 
make the store more productive.

We opened eight new Dealer stores in 2005 
and expanded four more providing more 
locations to sell big-ticket merchandise.
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We conduct ongoing reviews of our products to 
maximize merchandise category productivity 
and profi tability. We increase fl oor space, 
advertising space and human resources in 
categories that are the most profi table and 
reduce accordingly in others to maintain an 
overall balance. This provides for sound expense 
management while still focusing on the growth 
of our business in the categories that matter 
most to customers.

We continued to refi ne the Sears Value Strategy 
during the past year, the focal point of our value 
proposition. Complementing a promotionally 
priced Sears-on-Sale program are three 
everyday-price components: Sears Value, Sears 
More Value, and Sears Best Value. Sears Value 
represents everyday value at lower price points, 
Sears More Value everyday value at popular, 
mid-price points, and Sears Best Value everyday 
value for premium quality product. 

Providing an increased number of items at 
everyday pricing not only provides more 
assurance to customers who prefer to shop 
this way; it provides us with better profi tability 
on an ongoing basis by reducing promotional 
markdowns. In 2005, our regular balance of sale 
accounted for over 40% of our retail sales. 

Strategic sourcing is an important element of 
our plan to increase gross margin. By working 
with key strategic suppliers, we can become a 
more signifi cant portion of their overall business, 
and take advantage of economies of scale. 
From an associate point of view, fewer partners 
will make time management more effi cient. 

We began 2005 with over 3,000 suppliers, and 
this certainly leaves room for a more strategic 
approach to our selection process.

Channel Strategy:
Our Channel Strategy focus is on
• Store productivity and profi tability,
• Free-standing department stores,
• Dealer stores and
• Internet shopping. 

Our growth in the short term will be in 
maximizing our store productivity and 
profi tability from those stores which we already 
own. This will come in part from increased sales 
per square foot productivity, devoting a greater 
percentage of our space to businesses which 
provide the best return on investment. As 
mentioned, Destination businesses play a 
signifi cant role in this plan.

We continued to refi ne the 

Sears Value Strategy during 

the past year, the focal point 

of our value proposition.  

“ I just registered and placed an order on 
your website for the fi rst time. It was so easy! 
You have developed a great and simple 
ordering system.”
 
Ruth K., Harvie Heights, AB



 

Improvement in productivity and profi tability 
will also come from the careful and continuous 
management of expenses. Performance 
Principles is a program which facilitates the 
sharing of information among our store 
managers allowing them to utilize the best 
practices and operating activities of the most 
successful stores to maximize total profi t. 

Return on Net Assets is a key measure to guide 
us in regards to capital expense. In 2005, our 
productivity initiatives enabled us to re-examine 
our capital expense. Consequently, we were 
able to reduce capital expense by over 40% 
to $86 million from the year prior while still 
addressing the necessary maintenance and 
upgrading of our stores.

Focused allocation of capital expense is, of 
course, well justifi ed, as evidenced in the 
March, 2005 opening of our fi rst off-mall, 
free-standing department store in 
Charlottetown which is a resounding success. 
We have found this 108,000 sq. ft. format 
with all departments on one fl oor to be very 
successful. The performance of Charlottetown 
supported the decision to use this same model 
when we relocated our stores in Brockville and 
Timmins, Ontario in September, and to open 
a new location in St. John’s, Newfoundland 
and Labrador in November. 2006 will see one 
new department store open in St. Eustache, 
Quebec, which will be a relocation from our 
current unit in Deux Montagnes.

Eight new Dealer stores opened in 2005. 
This model for smaller markets continues to 
be a winning formula for both Sears and the 
independent dealer. The owner-operators 
play a signifi cant role in their communities by 
building their store and running the Sears 
marketing program for Major Appliances, 
Home Furnishings, Electronics and Outdoor 
Power Equipment. This format allows the owner 
to build on the success of the Sears Catalogue 
in these communities. This partnering has 
enabled Sears to expand Dealer stores to 158, 
with plans to open 10 more in 2006.

Although internet shopping represents a 
small portion of our overall sales, this business 
grew double-digit in 2005 over 2004. Sears.ca 
complements our catalogue business. 
As Canadians continue to embrace e-tailing, 
the investment in our website will maintain 
our position as a major player. This summer, 
we will unveil a signifi cantly improved shopping 
site, leveraging our core competencies of 
merchandising, marketing, order fulfi llment 
and customer service with the proven technical 
and creative capabilities of a world-renowned 
organization, Amazon.com. Undoubtedly, 
this will propel sears.ca to a level of internet 
shopping unparalleled in the Canadian retail 
marketplace. There is additional information 
about this strategic alliance further on in 
this letter.

“ I went to Sears looking for information on a 
new vacuum cleaner. The salesperson did not 
rush me; she answered all my questions and 
listened to my needs. I purchased the model 
she recommended and because of her, I will 
return to Sears.”
 
Debra W. H., Charlottetown, PEI
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Our Product Repair Services business grew in 
2005, demonstrating once again that this is 
considered to be an important component of 
the Sears shopping platform for our customers. 
With the ability to service not only our own 
products but also those purchased by customers 
elsewhere, we are able to build enhanced 
customer relationships. 

New Initiatives:
Our New Initiatives focus is on
• Strategic partnerships and
• Continuous improvement of 
 our organizational structure.

Our fi rst strategic partnership announcement of 
2005 was the acquisition of Cantrex Group Inc., 
from a Canadian subsidiary of G.E. Capital 
Corporation. Cantrex is Canada’s largest buying 
group for independent merchants in the 
furniture, appliances, electronics, computers, 
fl oor covering and photography equipment 
sectors with more than 1,200 retail outlets 
across Canada. It offers the benefi ts of joint 
purchasing power and effective high-return 
marketing strategies. 

Our broad experience in managing an 
independent retailer network with our Dealers 
and Catalogue Sales agents is proving to be of 
great benefi t to Cantrex members. We can offer 
them transportation, logistics, technology and 
buying services, thus helping them grow their 
businesses while contributing to our bottom line.

As mentioned, Sears Canada’s new alliance with 
Amazon Services, an Amazon.com company, 
will combine Canada’s most popular general 
merchandise shopping site, sears.ca, with the 
behind-the-scenes capabilities of Amazon. 
Features such as personalization, advanced 
navigation and optimized search functions will 
enhance the customer’s website experience 
while still providing the enormous merchandise 
selection customers have come to expect from 
Canada’s most popular shopping site.

In November, we announced the closing of the 
transaction regarding the sale of our Credit and 
Financial Services operations to JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, N.A. Under the long-term marketing and 
servicing alliance, JPMorgan Chase will provide 
credit and customer service benefi ts to Sears 
Card and Sears MasterCard holders in Canada. 

“ Since I have been shopping at Sears, I have 
had only good service and quality products 
at very good prices.”
 
François L., Longueuil, QC

As Canadians continue 

to embrace e-tailing, the 

investment in our website 

will maintain our position 

as a major player.



 

As part of the alliance, Sears Canada expects 
to generate signifi cant on-going cash fl ow 
in the form of annual performance payments 
based on items such as credit sales, new 
account generation and sales of additional 
fi nancial products. 

Intensive industry research and scrutiny by 
Sears and our advisors supported the decision 
to select Chase. We sought an alliance with 
an enterprise that had the fi nancial capability 
and also refl ected Sears Canada’s values in its 
service to our customers. We have found this 
in Chase, and look forward to building a strong 
future together.

The transaction led to record profi ts for the 
Company in 2005 and also provided an 
opportunity to distribute over $2.0 billion to 
shareholders (or $18.64 per share) in December 
by way of a combination of special dividend 
and return of capital. 

The sale of the Credit and Financial Services 
operations changes the structure of the 
Company. Sears will now focus on its abilities 
as a successful merchandising business to 
continue producing profi table results. 

The continuous improvement of our 
organizational structure is imperative to 
our success moving forward. We took steps 
in the fourth quarter of 2005, following the 

announcement of our alliance with Chase, 
to take signifi cant measures to move the 
company forward as a lean, profi table retailer. 
We consolidated our buying offi ces to one 
location, we reduced our staff complement 
by approximately 1,200 (in addition to the 
approximately 1,000 associates who moved 
from Sears to Chase), and we signifi cantly 
reduced non-customer-serving activities. 
Our review of improvement opportunities 
in all areas continues. 

Specifi c productivity improvement initiatives, 
to be completed through 2008, are expected, 
when fully implemented, to result in 
approximately $100 million pre-tax annualized 
savings, the majority of which is expected to 
be realized in 2006. As we focus on our core 
business of merchandising, we plan to attain 
a cost structure that competes with the best 
of Canadian retailers. 

Throughout all the work to improve our fi nancial 
performance, we keep exceptional customer 
service at the forefront. We do not plan the 
introduction of measures which may negatively 
impact our ability to serve our customers the 
Sears way, a competitive advantage we hold with 
great respect. Quality, value, trust, and service 
before, during and after shopping with us will 
continue to be elements of integrity for which 
Sears is known. 

“ We have just had a new door installed 
through Sears HomeCentral. We just 
wanted to inform you of the excellent 
customer service we received. They arrived 
when they said they would arrive, and 
after the installation the deck and inside 
were spotless.”
 
Paul J., Hamilton, ON
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The customer loyalty index is at its highest 
year-ending level ever, and we continue to rank 
high in key areas of customer relationship, most 
notably trust, where Sears Canada ranks higher 
than any other company in the country.

The $4 million donated to charitable 
organizations demonstrates our ongoing desire 
to invest in the communities in which we do 
business. Sears Young Futures supports 
organizations that provide after-school programs 
to children and youth. Through support of 
programs such as those conducted by Boys 
and Girls Clubs of Canada, 4-H, and the Sears 
Ontario Drama Festival (celebrating its 60th 
anniversary in 2006), we are helping to provide 
youth with safe, creative and fun ways to believe 
in themselves and to learn new skills. 

I would like to recognize the contribution of 
three of our Offi cers who left the Company in 
October. Scott Marshall, Senior Vice-President 
and Operations Offi cer and Larry Moore, Senior 
Vice-President, Service Sales had been with the 
Company 31 and 34 years, respectively. Bruce 
Clark, Senior Vice-President, Financial Services 
has taken a position with Chase as Senior Vice-
President of the Sears Card portfolio. We thank 
them for the enormous contribution they made 
to the Company over these many years. 

In 2006, we will continue to make improvements 
in all components of our Strategic Plan to better 
serve our customers and shareholders. I thank 
our associates for their efforts during the past 
year. I recognize their contribution to the 
successes we have achieved so far and count 
on them to help continue making Sears a 
Great Place to Grow, Shop, Work and Invest.

“ Thank you so much for the great merchandise, 
service, catalogues and friendly, helpful 
people. Keep it up. A customer forever.” 
 
Lisa D., Scott Siding, NB
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As we focus on our core 

business of merchandising, 

we plan to attain a cost 

structure that competes with 

the best of Canadian retailers. 



 Dear Shareholder,

2005 was an exciting year for Sears Canada 
and its shareholders.

The sale of the Credit and Financial Services 
operations and related assets crystallized the 
value of this segment of the business that 
the Company had grown over several decades. 
It enabled us to distribute a very signifi cant 
amount of investment to our shareholders 
by way of a return of stated capital and 
a special dividend.

This transaction, coupled with an improved 
performance from our merchandising operations 
in the fourth quarter, contributed to a strong 
balance sheet and cash position at year-end.

The Company has secured a revolving line 
of credit which will enable Sears to maximize 
its borrowing capacity at peak times of the 
year while limiting interest expenses.  

During 2005, measures were implemented to 
signifi cantly reduce expenses, including strategic 
staffi ng decisions and the consolidation of 
buying offi ces. Capital spending was reduced 
while maintaining and improving the appeal 
and effi ciencies of our facilities. The Company 
continues to pursue further operational 
effi ciencies throughout the organization.

The work continues with respect to the 
implementation of Bill 198 elements to ensure 
that our reporting conforms to updated 
regulatory standards.  

The strategic plan and our strong balance 
sheet position us to achieve our goals moving 
forward, as management looks for continuous 
improvement of fi nancial performance.  

 LETTER FROM THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
A Message from David B. Merkley, Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Offi cer
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ELEVEN YEAR SUMMARY1

Fiscal Year  2005  2004  2003  2002  2001  2000  1999  1998  1997  1996  1995

Results for the Year (in millions)
Total Revenues

2
 $ 6,238 $ 6,230 $ 6,223 $ 6,536 $ 6,726 $ 6,356 $ 5,777 $ 5,132 $ 4,752 $ 4,120 $ 4,027

Depreciation and amortization  164  166  166  165  182  137  117  96  78  78  74
Earnings (loss) before unusual
 items and income taxes  210  193  226  207  164  316  339  269  215  70  43
Unusual items (gain) expense  (748)  3  5  189  (5)  (13)  –  –  –  45  21
Earnings (loss) before
 income taxes  958  189  221  18  169  329  339  269  215  25  22
Income taxes (recovery)  187  61  96  (26)  80  106  143  123  99  16  10
Net earnings (loss)  771  129  125  44  89  223  196  146  116  9  12
Dividends declared  1,557  26  26  26  26  26  26  25  25  23  23
Return of capital  470  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Capital expenditures  86  161  208  219  159  482  249  142  160  63  76

Year End Position (in millions)
3

Accounts receivable $ 54 $ 1,526 $ 1,249 $ 1,323 $ 872 $ 942 $ 1,070 $ 1,100 $ 1,225 $ 1,033 $ 926
Inventories  788  790  801  754  865  1,015  814  716  624  476  492
Capital assets  981  1,066  1,100  1,102  1,234  1,245  1,002  868  825  744  763
Total assets

4
  3,199  4,262  4,139  4,138  4,047  4,005  3,788  3,198  3,007  2,734  2,554

Working capital  219  1,318  1,124  1,061  953  685  515  898  971  741  661
Debt  749  756  770  776  813  699  686  844  848  817  789
Shareholders’ equity  645  1,877  1,781  1,627  1,608  1,543  1,343  1,164  1,042  949  856

Per Share of Capital Stock (in dollars)
Net earnings $ 7.22 $ 1.21 $ 1.17 $ 0.41 $ 0.83 $ 2.09 $ 1.85 $ 1.38 $ 1.10 $ 0.09 $ 0.13
Dividends declared  14.50  0.24  0.24   0.24  0.24  0.24   0.24  0.24  0.24  0.24  0.24
Return of capital  4.38  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Shareholders’ equity  6.01  17.67  16.67  15.24  15.07  14.49   12.64  10.98  9.84  8.98   9.02

Financial Ratios
2,3

Return on average shareholders’ equity (%)  47.3  7.0  7.3  2.7  5.7   15.4  15.7  13.3  11.7  1.0  1.4
Current ratio  1.1  2.0  1.9  1.7  1.7  1.4  1.3  1.7  1.9  1.7  1.7
Return on total revenues (%)  12.4  2.1  2.0  0.7  1.3  3.5  3.4  2.8  2.4  0.2  0.3
Debt/Equity ratio  54/46  29/71  30/70  32/68  34/66  31/69  34/66  42/58  45/55  46/54  48/52
Pre-tax margin (%)  15.4  3.0  3.5  0.3  2.5   5.2  5.9  5.2  4.5  0.6  0.5

Number of Selling Units
Full-line department stores  123  121  122  123  125  125  110  109  110  110  110
Home stores  49  49  47  42  37  33  25  20  8  4  1
Appliances and Mattresses stores  5  4  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Outlet stores  11  13  14  15  17  15  12  12  8  9  10
Dealer stores  158  153  144  141  132  128  110  93  79  60  19
Floor Covering Centres  50  50  53  48  38  31  15  –  –  –  –
Coverings stores  1  2  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Corbeil  28  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –
Catalogue selling locations  2,116  2,258  2,233  2,220  2,157  2,103  2,005  1,898  1,752  1,746  1,623
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COMMON SHARE MARKET INFORMATION

(Toronto Stock Exchange – Trading Symbol SCC)
   First Quarter   Second Quarter    Third Quarter   Fourth Quarter
   2005  2004  2005  2004  2005  2004  2005  2004

Closing High $ 22.30 $ 18.24 $ 24.70 $ 18.11 $ 34.45 $ 17.48 $ 37.10 $ 18.50

Closing Low $ 16.59 $ 15.98 $ 20.32 $ 16.78 $ 23.36 $ 16.01 $ 17.85 $ 16.12

Close $ 22.30 $ 17.40 $ 24.60 $ 17.51 $ 33.10 $ 16.28 $ 17.98 $ 16.99

Average daily trading volume  334,137  253,288  211,890  198,160  292,006  124,889  465,789  161,748 

1  Fiscal years 1999 to 2003 have been restated to refl ect a correction in accounting for lease incentives and other allowances. Historically, lease allowances 
were classifi ed as a reduction to capital assets as opposed to a deferred credit. The lease allowances were historically amortized as a reduction to depreciation 
expense over the expected life of the asset to which it related, as opposed to a reduction to rent expense over the term of the related lease. Certain amounts 
have also been restated to refl ect accounting changes related to the consolidation of the Company’s proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses of real estate joint ventures as recommended by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The change in policy, effective in 1995, has 
been applied retroactively.

2 T otal revenues and cost of merchandise sold have been restated to refl ect new guidance on recording of revenues. Revenues relating to the travel business 
and licensed department businesses are now recorded in revenues net of cost of sales. The restatement had no impact on net earnings. The change in policy, 
effective in 2000, has been applied retroactively.

3 The 1999 balance sheet has been restated to refl ect the fi nalization of the accounting for the acquisition of Eaton’s.
4 The 1994 to 2003 balance sheet has been restated to conform to the 2004 fi nancial statement presentation.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For purposes of this discussion, “Sears”, “Sears Canada” or “the Company” refers to 
Sears Canada Inc. and its subsidiaries, together with its proportionate share of the assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint venture interests.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) section of the Annual Report 
contains commentary from Sears management regarding strategy, operating results, and 
fi nancial position. Management is responsible for its accuracy, integrity, and objectivity, 
and develops, maintains, and supports the necessary systems and controls to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the accuracy of the comments contained herein.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the 2005 fi scal year – the 
52-week period ended December 31, 2005. The 2004 fi scal year refers to the 52-week 
period ended January 1, 2005. The 2003 fi scal year refers to the 53-week period 
ended January 3, 2004. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in 
Canadian dollars. This MD&A is current as of February 28, 2006 unless otherwise 
stated. Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual 
Information Form (“AIF”), is available online at www.sedar.com.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Certain information in the Letter to Our Shareholders and in this MD&A, is forward-looking 
and is subject to important risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking information concerns 
the Company’s future fi nancial performance, business strategy, plans, goals and objectives. 
Often, but not always, forward-looking information can be identifi ed by the use of words 
such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, 
“estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes”, 
or variations of such words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or 
results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. 
Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors which may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by 
the forward-looking information.

Factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations 
include, but are not limited to: the ability of the Company to successfully implement its 
cost reduction, productivity improvement and strategic initiatives and whether such 
initiatives will yield the expected benefi ts; the impact of the sale of the Company’s 
Credit and Financial Services operations and the results achieved pursuant to the 
Company’s long-term marketing and servicing alliance with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.; 
general economic conditions; competitive conditions in the businesses in which the 
Company participates and in the credit card industry; changes in consumer spending; 
seasonal weather patterns; customer preference toward product offerings; changes in the 
Company’s relationship with its suppliers; interest rate fl uctuations and other changes 
in funding costs; fl uctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; the possibility of 
negative investment returns in the Company’s pension plan; the outcome of pending 
legal proceedings; the outcome of the takeover bid by SHLD Acquisition Corp., a wholly-
owned indirect subsidiary of Sears Holdings Corporation, to acquire the outstanding 
shares of Sears Canada which it and its affi liates do not already own; and changes in 
laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company. While the Company believes 
that its forecasts and assumptions are reasonable, results or events predicted in this 
forward-looking information may differ materially from actual results or events.
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1. Company Performance

Vision

Sears is a multi-channel retailer dedicated to providing its customers with quality merchandise and exceptional 
service. Sears emphasizes quality, value, service and trust to appeal to a broad cross-section of Canadian consumers 
from coast to coast. The Company’s vision is to be Canada’s most successful retailer by providing total satisfaction 
to customers, opportunities for associates to grow and contribute, and superior returns to shareholders. Sears 
corporate values focus on making Sears a Great Place to Grow, Shop, Work, and Invest.

Business Segments

Sears has a presence in all of Canada’s provinces and territories through a variety of customer contact points. 
In 2005 and prior years, Sears classifi ed its operations into three business segments: merchandising, credit and real 
estate joint venture operations. 

Merchandising Operations – This segment includes the sale of goods and services through the Company’s Retail 
and Direct (Catalogue/Internet) channels. It also includes service revenues related to the Company’s product repair, 
home improvement, travel, and logistics services. 

Credit Operations – On November 15, 2005, the Company sold its Credit and Financial Services operations to 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (Toronto Branch), (“JPMorgan Chase”), a subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co. 
Please see the discussion under the “Sale of Credit and Financial Services Operations” heading below. Prior to 
the sale, this segment included the extension of credit to qualifi ed customers on both the Sears Card and Sears 
MasterCard. Sears credit operations managed and fi nanced these customer accounts and provided a range of 
related services. 

The Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations included substantially all of the assets and liabilities 
of the credit segment and certain assets and liabilities of the merchandising segment. For further information 
on the value of these assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2005, please see the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Real Estate Joint Venture Operations – This segment includes Sears interest in 14 shopping centres across Canada. 

As a result of the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations to JPMorgan Chase, the Company 
will report its operations in two business segments in 2006: merchandising and real estate joint venture operations.

a. Strategic Initiatives 

By focusing on the successful execution of key strategic initiatives, management believes that Sears will achieve its 
long-term goal of sustainable and profi table growth. In 2005, Sears continued to focus on enhancing shareholder 
value through the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, building long-term customer relationships, 
and improving productivity through various initiatives. 
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Sale of Credit and Financial Services Operations 

On November 15, 2005, Sears completed the sale of its Credit and Financial Services operations to JPMorgan 
Chase for $2.3 billion in cash net of securitized receivables, cash transferred, transaction costs and taxes. An 
after-tax gain of $677.2 million was recorded from the sale. Of the net after-tax proceeds realized from the sale, 
the Company distributed approximately $470 million to holders of common shares as a return of capital and 
approximately $1.53 billion to holders of common shares as an extraordinary cash dividend. Both payments were 
made on December 16, 2005 to the shareholders of record as at December 13, 2005. 

As part of the sale transaction, the Company and JPMorgan Chase entered into a long-term marketing and servicing 
alliance with an initial term of ten years. Under the alliance, the Company will receive performance payments from 
JPMorgan Chase based on a percentage of sales charged to the Sears Card and Sears MasterCard, new account 
generation, processing of account payments, and a percentage of sales of additional fi nancial products by JPMorgan 
Chase to Sears Card and Sears MasterCard holders. In 2006, Sears expects that the alliance will generate annual 
performance payments of approximately $100 million, based on the Company’s expectation that sales by product 
type and channel (which impact the volume of purchases made on the Sears Card), and the number of new accounts 
generated and account payments processed, will be similar to levels experienced in 2005. The Company expects 
any decrease in sales charged to the Sears Card to be largely offset by an increase in sales charged to the 
Sears MasterCard. 

Income previously reported in the credit segment and approximately $20 million previously reported in the 
merchandising segment, which will no longer be generated as a result of the sale of the Credit and Financial Services 
operations, are expected to be partly replaced by the approximately $100 million of performance payments 
expected to be earned pursuant to the alliance. The Company will, however, continue to incur expenses relating 
to customer loyalty programs and corporate overhead previously reported in the credit segment which were 
approximately $40 million in 2005.  

The actual performance payments received by the Company pursuant to the alliance with JPMorgan Chase may be 
impacted by various factors, including increased competition to its merchandising operations and to credit card 
issuers, unfavourable economic conditions and changes in consumer spending behaviour. Please see the discussion in 
the “2006 Outlook” section of this MD&A and the discussion of risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company’s 
normal course of business in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section of this MD&A.

Building Long-Term Customer Relationships 

Sears continues to focus on building long-term customer relationships by providing quality merchandise and 
exceptional service across Canada. The Company continues to assess consumer behaviour and has undertaken 
numerous initiatives in response, including: 

• the acquisition of Cantrex Group Inc. (“Cantrex”), including its wholly-owned subsidiary, Corbeil Electrique Inc. 
(“Corbeil”), which increases the Company’s presence in off-mall locations; 

• an alliance with Amazon Services, Inc. to create a technological platform that will enhance customers’ internet 
shopping experience on sears.ca;
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• the introduction of a free-standing Full-line department store in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, furthering 
the Company’s initiative to bring Full-line department stores closer to residential neighbourhoods not served by 
traditional shopping malls;

• a greater focus on destination categories, leveraging the Company’s reputation for trust and quality service; and

• the introduction of the Sears Value Strategy which offers customers everyday pricing options at three levels of 
quality under the names Sears Value, Sears More Value and Sears Best Value. 

Productivity Improvement Initiatives 

Sears is committed to improving profi tability and reviews its expense structure on an ongoing basis. During the third 
quarter of 2005, Sears announced the introduction of a series of productivity improvement initiatives. When these 
initiatives are fully implemented, they are expected to result in pre-tax annualized savings of at least $100 million. 
Based on the Company’s schedule for implementing these productivity improvement initiatives, it is expected that 
the projected pre-tax annualized savings will be substantially realized in 2006. The Company continues to pursue 
further operational effi ciency improvements throughout the organization, including rationalization of facilities, 
other operational expense reductions and a review of sourcing and procurement practices to generate improved 
merchandise margin. The productivity improvement initiatives include:

• strategic staffi ng initiatives, including the rationalization of facilities to reduce fi xed expenses without affecting 
the level of customer service; 

• the consolidation of buying offi ces to improve productivity and effi ciency;

• a comprehensive review of sourcing and procurement practices to improve merchandise margin; and

• a new and more limited returns policy which is competitive with other retailers.

As part of the Company’s productivity improvement initiatives, a pre-tax restructuring charge of $67.3 million 
primarily related to strategic staffi ng was recorded in 2005 as a non-comparable item. Please see the Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for more details. These strategic initiatives are discussed in greater detail 
throughout this MD&A.

b. Consolidated Financial Results

The adoption of the amendment to EIC-144 issued by the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) of the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) impacts the timing of recognition of the vendor rebates between 
the quarters, but does not impact rebate recognition in the annual fi nancial statements. The impact on the 
Company’s net earnings for the 13-week period ended December 31, 2005 is a decrease of approximately 
$3.2 million (2004 – $2.4 million decrease). More information on the amendment to EIC-144 can be found 
in the “Accounting Policies” section of this MD&A. Certain comparative fi gures have also been reclassifi ed to 
conform to the current period’s presentation. 
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Unless otherwise noted, 2005 results refl ect a 52-week period, 2004 results refl ect a 52-week period and 2003 
results refl ect a 53-week period.

     % Chg 2005   % Chg 2004
(in millions, except per share amounts)  2005   vs 2004  2004  vs 2003  2003

Total Revenues $ 6,237.6   0.1%  $ 6,230.5   0.1%  $ 6,222.7
 Cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative and selling expenses   5,814.6  (0.0%)  5,816.9  0.8%   5,771.3
 Depreciation and amortization  164.2  (1.1%)  166.0  (0.1%)  166.2
 Interest expense, net  48.9  (11.1%)  55.0  (7.6%)  59.5
 Unusual items – (gain) expense  (747.7)  23465.6%  3.2  (36.0%)  5.0
 Income taxes  186.8  207.7%  60.7  (36.9%)  96.2

Net earnings  $ 770.8  498.9% $ 128.7  3.4% $ 124.5

Earnings per share $ 7.22   $ 1.21   $ 1.17
Diluted earnings per share $ 7.19   $ 1.20   $ 1.16

2005 Compared with 2004 – Total revenues increased during 2005 compared to the corresponding period in 2004, 
primarily due to an increase in merchandising revenues which was partially offset by the loss of credit revenues 
resulting from the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. The increase in merchandising revenues was 
primarily due to an increase in service-related revenues and the acquisition of Cantrex. Same-store sales decreased 
by 2.9% during 2005. Same-store sales represent merchandise sales generated through operations in Full-line, 
Sears Home, Dealer, and Outlet stores that were continuously open during both of the periods being compared. 

The cost of merchandise sold decreased in 2005 compared to 2004, partially due to a decline in merchandise sales. 
The gross margin rate increased 42 basis points during 2005 compared to the same period last year, primarily due 
to the combined effect of improved inventory management which resulted in less liquidation costs, and favourable 
exchange rates related to the purchases of imported merchandise. At the end of 2005, inventories, including 
$25.7 million of Cantrex inventory, were $788.2 million compared to $789.8 million at the end of 2004.

Operating, administrative, and selling expenses increased during 2005 compared to the corresponding period in 
2004. This increase was primarily due to higher costs associated with the Company’s loyalty program, increased 
marketing expenses, and higher outsourcing costs attributable to the increase in service-related revenues. During 
the second half of 2005, the Company launched a series of initiatives to improve productivity. These are discussed 
in more detail in the “Quarterly Results” section and in the section titled “Strategic Initiatives” under the heading 
“Segment Performance” of this MD&A. 

Depreciation expense decreased marginally in 2005 compared to 2004. 

Net interest expense in 2005 was lower than in 2004. The majority of the decrease was experienced in the fourth 
quarter due to interest income earned on the investment of the pre-tax proceeds of $2.4 billion received from the 
sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005, until the extraordinary cash dividend 
and the return of capital were made to shareholders on December 16, 2005. Net interest expense excludes the cost 
of securitized funding which is discussed in the “Funding Costs” section of this MD&A.
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Income taxes were higher in 2005 compared to 2004, primarily due to the increase in net earnings as a result 
of the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, and lower favourable tax assessments in 2005 than 
in 2004. The Company incurred less large corporation taxes in 2005 due to lower taxable capital following the 
distribution of the extraordinary dividend and the return of capital to shareholders. 

Unusual items, together with securitization activities, are also referred to as non-comparable items, and are 
discussed in more detail in the “Non-Comparable Items” section of this MD&A.

Net earnings, including non-comparable items, increased in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily due to the gain 
resulting from the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. This gain has been recorded as an unusual 
item and is discussed in more detail in the “Non-Comparable Items” section of this MD&A.

2004 Compared with 2003 – Total revenues in 2004 remained relatively fl at compared to the previous year. The 
fi scal year 2004 consisted of 52 weeks compared to 53 weeks in 2003. On a comparable week basis, same-store 
sales increased 1.6% from 2003. The increase was attributable to the growth of the Company’s retail business 
through Sears Home and Dealer channels.

The cost of merchandise sold increased in 2004 compared to 2003. The gross margin rate declined 129 basis points 
compared to the corresponding period in the prior year as a result of a higher mix of promotional sales, a balance-
of-sales shift from relatively higher to lower margin merchandise categories and selling channels and the aggressive 
markdown actions taken throughout 2004 to clear seasonal inventory caused by unseasonable weather conditions. 
The actions to clear out-of-season merchandise contributed to inventories remaining well controlled, ending the year 
1.4% lower than 2003.

Operating, administrative and selling expenses further improved from 2003, as management continued to focus 
on expense management, particularly in advertising, payroll and benefi t costs including incentive compensation. 

Depreciation expense remained relatively fl at during 2004 compared to 2003 as the Company continued to focus 
on capital expenditure management.

Interest expense decreased in 2004 compared to the prior year due to lower funding requirements. 

Income taxes were lower in 2004 compared to 2003. Factors contributing to the decrease in income tax provision 
included the revaluation in 2003 of future income tax assets as well as an unfavourable tax assessment in contrast 
to a favourable 2004 tax assessment. 

Net earnings increased slightly from 2003. The increase in cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative 
and selling expense was offset by a reduction in depreciation, interest, unusual items and income taxes.

i. Non-comparable Items

The Company’s fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”). Earnings before non-comparable items is a non-GAAP measure which excludes securitization 
activities and non-operating gains and losses. It does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and is 
therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Sears uses this measure to 
better assess the Company’s underlying performance, and provides this additional information in this MD&A so that 
investors may do the same. 
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A reconciliation of earnings before non-comparable items to the Company’s GAAP net earnings is outlined in the 
following table: 

   Before Tax  After-tax  Earnings (loss) per share 
(in millions, except per share amounts)  2005  2004  2003  2005  2004   2003  2005  2004  2003

Earnings before non-comparable items $ 207.9 $ 186.8 $ 226.4 $ 129.9 $ 122.8 $ 130.7 $ 1.22 $ 1.15 $ 1.22

 Effect from sale of receivables  2.0    5.8    (0.7)   1.3    3.6    (0.5)  0.01    0.03    (0.01)
 Sale of Credit & Financial Services operations  811.0  –  –  677.2  –  –  6.34  –  –
 Sale of real estate joint venture  15.5  16.0  –  12.3  12.9  –  0.12  0.12  –
 Sale of real estate  4.8  3.1  –  4.0  2.0  –  0.04  0.02  –
 Stock-based compensation   (16.1)  –  –  (9.9)  –  –  (0.09)  –  –
 Restructuring activities  (67.3)  (14.8)  –  (43.9)  (9.8)  –  (0.42)  (0.09)  –
 Conversion of Eatons stores  –  8.0  –  –  5.2  –  –  0.05  –
 Store closures  (0.2)  (2.4)  –  (0.1)  (1.6)  –  –  (0.02)  –
 Auto centre operations  –  (13.1)  –  –  (8.5)  –  –  (0.08)  –
 Environmental remediation  –  –  (5.0)  –  –  (3.1)  –  –  (0.03)
 Tax provision, St. Laurent  –  –  –  –  –  (2.6)  –  –  (0.01)
 Tax recovery, Kenmore  –  –  –  –  2.1  –  –  0.03  –

Net earnings  $ 957.6   $ 189.4   $ 220.7   $ 770.8   $ 128.7   $ 124.5   $ 7.22   $ 1.21   $ 1.17

Effect from Sale of Receivables – The effect from the sale of receivables is considered a non-comparable item 
because the timing and the dollar amount of funding transactions impact the amount of the gain or loss. 

The effect from the sale of receivables refl ects the accounting guideline introduced by the CICA in July, 2001 and 
subsequently adopted by the Company. The essence of this guideline requires a gain or loss to be recorded when 
receivables are sold that refl ects the expected future income stream from the Company’s retained interest in the sold 
receivables. A decrease in the outstanding balance of receivables sold decreases the amount of the future income 
stream previously recognized, resulting in a reduction of income in the current period. The portion of receivables sold 
in which the Company retains an interest was subject to this accounting policy. It is the timing and amount of these 
sale transactions that give rise to the gain or reduction to income. Additional information on this topic can be found 
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Sale of Credit and Financial Services Operations – During the fourth quarter of 2005, a gain of $677.2 million 
net of taxes of $133.8 million and transaction costs, was recognized following the sale of the Credit and Financial 
Services operations, including the Sears Card and Sears MasterCard credit portfolio, to JPMorgan Chase. The 
Company received proceeds of $2.3 billion, net of securitized receivables, cash transferred, transaction costs and 
taxes. The proceeds and net asset allocations are preliminary pending resolution of closing adjustments which are 
expected to be fi nalized by the end of the fi rst quarter of 2006. 

The majority of the assets and liabilities of the Credit and Financial Services operations were previously reported in 
the credit segment. The table below summarizes the assets and liabilities of the sold Credit and Financial Services 
operations. Please see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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(in millions)

Cash $  15.7
Accounts receivable, net of $982.1 million co-ownership held by third parties   1,542.2
Investments   44.2
Other long-term assets   49.8
Other assets   6.9
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (7.7)

Net assets sold $  1,651.1

Sale of Real Estate Joint Venture – A $15.5 million pre-tax gain was recognized on the sale of the Company’s 
proportionate interest in the Place des Bois Franc (Victoriaville, Quebec) shopping centre during the period ended 
December 31, 2005. Shopping centre investments are non-core assets that the Company sells when it is fi nancially 
advantageous to do so. 

Sale of Real Estate – During 2005, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $4.8 million on the sale of real estate 
in Levis (Quebec), and Barrie and Sarnia, (Ontario). 

Stock-Based Compensation – A pre-tax charge of $16.1 million was recorded during the 52-week period ended 
December 31, 2005 (2004 – Nil). The charge relates to the decision by the Company’s Human Resources and 
Compensation Committee (“HRCC”) to the Board of Directors to permit all outstanding options (which did not 
previously have a stock appreciation right feature) to be exercised as stock appreciation rights and to accelerate 
the vesting of unvested stock options and Special Incentive Shares and Options. In addition, the charge relates 
to the announcement that the Company had reached a defi nitive agreement to sell substantially all of the assets 
and liabilities of its Credit and Financial Services operations and the corresponding increase in the share price. 
Please see the section titled “Company Initiated Purchases and Sales of Shares” under the heading “Stock Option 
and Share Purchase Plans for Employees and Directors” for further information. 

A pre-tax credit of $5.0 million was recorded during the 13-week period ended December 31, 2005 (2004 – Nil) 
due to the reduction in the liability required at year-end. The liability decreased in the fourth quarter of 2005 as a 
result of a decrease in the market price of the Company’s stock, as well as the number of options outstanding at 
December 31, 2005. Please see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the 
Company’s stock-based compensation expense.

Restructuring Activities – Non-operating pre-tax charges of $67.3 million (2004 – $14.8 million) were recorded 
for the 52-week period ended December 31, 2005. Included in the $67.3 million charge is a non-operating cash 
charge of $65.4 million and a non-operating non-cash charge of $1.9 million (2004 – $14.1 million and $0.7 
million, respectively). The charges relate to severance payments resulting from the restructuring of certain 
departments and positions, including certain positions at the executive level, to better align the organization to 
the Company’s strategic and productivity improvement initiatives. Staff reductions did not affect areas in direct 
contact with customers. The changes also include the cost of outplacement services and the costs to relocate 
employees due to the strategic staffi ng initiative. The non-cash charge in 2005 includes the write-down of parts 
supplies and fi xed assets following the decision to redesign the Company’s Parts and Service business, offset by 
a reduction in the Company’s provision for in-warranty services. 
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Store Closures – During 2005, the Company incurred a $0.2 million charge primarily related to the closure 
of a Coverings store located in Mississauga (Ontario). 

2004 Items

Sale of Real Estate Joint Venture – In 2004, a $16.0 million pre-tax gain was recognized on the sale of the 
Company’s proportionate interest in the Pine Centre (Prince George, British Columbia) shopping centre.  

Sale of Real Estate – In 2004, the Company realized a pre-tax gain of $3.1 million on the sale of its real estate 
in Surrey (British Columbia).  

Conversion of Eatons Stores – A recovery of $8.0 million was recorded in 2004 relating to the reversal of the 
remaining accrued costs associated with the conversion of the Eatons stores to the Sears banner. The conversion 
expense of $180.0 million was originally recorded in the 2002 fi scal year. 

Auto Centre Operations – In 2004, Sears entered into three separate licensing and asset sale agreements with third 
parties to assume the operation of 39 of the Company’s 52 auto centres. The Company has converted three of the 
13 other centres into Hardware stores while the remaining 10 locations have either been closed or converted for 
use in the Company’s merchandise operations. Total expenses for the 52-week period ended January 1, 2005 were 
$13.1 million for the Auto Centre Operations. The charge included severance expense, a non-cash impairment loss 
on long-lived assets, and other closure-related costs, net of liabilities assumed by licensees. 

Store Closures – In 2004, the Company incurred $2.4 million in lease termination expenses and non-cash fi xed 
asset impairment charges relating to the closure of the Gerrard Square Value Centre in Toronto (Ontario) and the 
Kitchener (Ontario) Outlet store. 

Tax Recovery – Kenmore – In 2004, the Company realized a tax recovery of $2.1 million primarily relating 
to the sale of the Kenmore warehouse in Toronto (Ontario) in 2000.

2003 Items

Environmental Remediation – In 2003, Sears increased its reserve for the remediation of property affected by 
former gas bar locations. The Company continues to monitor its obligations with respect to these locations.

Tax Provision, St. Laurent Shopping Centre, Ottawa – This is an assessment of the calculation of the capital gain 
on the disposal of this joint venture. The Company disposed of its interest in the joint venture and recorded a gain 
on the transaction as an unusual item in fi scal 2000.
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ii. Quarterly Results

(unaudited)   First Quarter   Second Quarter  Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter
(in millions, except per share amounts)  2005  2004  2005  2004  2005  2004  2005  2004

Total revenues $ 1,320.6 $ 1,330.7 $ 1,522.2 $ 1,487.4 $ 1,486.7 $ 1,497.3 $ 1,908.1 $ 1,915.1

Earnings (loss) before income taxes $ 18.6 $ 24.4 $ 19.3 $ 8.0 $ (49.5) $ 21.6 $ 969.2 $ 135.4 

Net earnings (loss) $ 13.9 $ 16.6 $ 10.9 $ 4.6 $ (37.4) $ 12.7 $ 783.4 $ 94.8 

Earnings (loss) per share $ 0.13 $ 0.16 $ 0.10 $ 0.04 $ (0.35) $ 0.12 $ 7.30 $ 0.89 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.13 $ 0.16 $ 0.10 $ 0.04 $ (0.35) $ 0.12 $ 7.28 $ 0.88

Net earnings before non-comparable items for the 13-week period ended December 31, 2005 were $102.0 million or 
95 cents per share, compared to $87.3 million or 82 cents per share for the 13-week period ended January 1, 2005. 
An increase in merchandise sales in the fourth quarter of 2005 compared to the same period in 2004 was offset by 
the loss of credit revenues due to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. Sales in major appliances 
increased signifi cantly in the fourth quarter of 2005 compared to the corresponding period in 2004, partly due 
to an initiative in 2005 which focused on increasing sales volume through an expanded assortment, larger store 
departments, and enhanced in-store presentation. Footwear and menswear categories also experienced sales 
increases in 2005. These increases, partially offset by sales declines in sportswear, cosmetics & accessories, 
Craftsman & electronics, and children’s wear, contributed to a same-store sales increase of 1.1% in the fourth 
quarter of 2005. 

Net earnings before non-comparable items increased in the fourth quarter of 2005 compared to the same period 
last year, primarily due to an increase in the gross margin rate of 89 basis points, lower net interest expense, 
lower capital taxes due to a reduction in taxable capital resulting from the distribution of the extraordinary 
cash dividend and the return of capital to shareholders, and the impact of productivity improvement initiatives 
which were partially offset by higher employee benefi t expenses. The increase in the gross margin rate was mainly 
due to effective management of inventory and the impact of favourable foreign exchange rates on imported 
merchandise. As previously mentioned in the “Consolidated Financial Results” section of this MD&A, net 
interest expense was lower due to interest earned on the cash proceeds obtained from the sale of the Credit 
and Financial Services operations. 

As a result of the implementation of productivity improvement initiatives during the second half of 2005, specifi cally 
the strategic staffi ng initiatives and a focus on cost control, payroll and miscellaneous expenses decreased during 
the fourth quarter of 2005 compared to the same period in 2004. This decrease was partially offset by an increase 
in employee benefi ts expenses.

Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2005 were higher than in the fourth quarter of 2004, primarily due to the 
after-tax gain of $677.2 million which resulted from the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. 
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Seasonality of Results 

Revenues vary by quarter due to the seasonality of the retail industry. Historically, the Company’s revenues and 
earnings are higher in the fourth quarter than in any of the other three quarters due to increased consumer spending 
over the holiday period. The Company is able to adjust certain variable costs in response to the seasonal revenue 
pattern, however, costs such as occupancy are fi xed which cause Sears to report a disproportionate level of earnings 
in the fourth quarter. This business seasonality results in quarterly performance that is not necessarily indicative of 
the year’s performance.

iii. 2006 Outlook 

Based on historical trends and the Company’s expectations for a stable economy and retail environment in 2006, the 
Company expects that net income and earnings per share, before non-comparable items, in 2006 will be similar to its 
2005 results. Sears expects the loss of earnings due to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations will 
be primarily offset by performance payments earned pursuant to the alliance with JPMorgan Chase and through 
the realization of savings from productivity improvement initiatives. In 2006, the Company expects its merchandising 
strategies, continued focus on quality customer service and sourcing and procurement initiatives to address the 
recent decline in same-store sales and improve gross margins.  

Any unexpected changes in consumer spending behaviour due to increased competition, unfavourable general 
economic conditions or unseasonable weather conditions may negatively impact same-store sales. As well, the 
Company’s ability to successfully implement its productivity improvement initiatives and merchandising strategy 
may negatively impact this outlook. Please see the discussion of risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company’s 
normal course of business in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section of this MD&A.

Pursuant to an offer and accompanying circular dated February 9, 2006 (together the “Offer”), SHLD Acquisition 
Corp. (the “Offeror”), a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of Sears Holdings Corporation (“Sears Holdings”), 
offered to purchase any and all of the outstanding common shares of the Company, other than common shares 
already held by the Offeror and its affi liates, for $16.86 per share. The Offer, which was initially open for acceptance 
until March 17, 2006, has been extended to, and is open for acceptance until, March 31, 2006 as outlined in the 
Offeror’s Notice of Extension dated March 20, 2006. As at March 17, 2006, the Offeror had taken up 10,161,968 
common shares of the Company pursuant to the Offer, representing approximately 9.5% of the Company’s 
outstanding common shares. As a result, Sears Holdings increased its ownership in the Company to 63.2% of its 
outstanding common shares. 

The fi nal outcome of the Offer may impact the outlook expressed above. Reference should be made to the Offer for 
the Offeror’s plans for the Company and for views of the Offeror as to the Company’s fi nancial performance, business 
strategy and outlook. 
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2. Segment Performance

a. Merchandising Operations 

The Company’s merchandising business is classifi ed into Retail and Direct channels. The Retail channel consists 
of mall-based and off-mall format stores which are either corporate or independently owned and operated. The 
corporate store formats include Full-line, Sears Home, Appliances and Mattresses, and Outlet stores. Sears home 
improvement showrooms include Floor Covering Centres, Coverings stores and Sears HomeCentral showrooms 
located within Sears Home stores. The Direct channel encompasses Catalogue and Online shopping at sears.ca. 
Merchandising is supported by the Company’s logistics operations.

Sears has a national presence throughout Canada, with a Sears location being within a ten-minute drive of 93% 
of Canadians. At the end of 2005, Sears locations were distributed across the country as follows:

             2005   2004   2003
   Atlantic  Quebec  Ontario  Prairies  Pacifi c  Total  Total  Total

 Full-line department stores  13  27  46  22  15  123  121  122
 Sears Home stores  2  12  20  10  5  49  49  47
 Appliances and Mattresses stores  –  –  4  1  –  5  4  –
 Outlet stores  1  1  6  2  1  11  13  14 

Corporate stores  16  40  76  35  21  188  187  183

Dealer stores  26  14  40  39  39  158  153  144

 Floor Covering Centres  1  2  27  11  9  50  50  53
 Coverings stores  –  –  1  –  –  1  2  –
 Sears HomeCentral showrooms  1  4  6  1  2  14  12  11

Home Improvement Showrooms  2  6  34  12  11  65  64  64

Corbeil  –  26  2  –  –  28  –  –

Cantrex Buying Group Members            873  –  – 

Travel offi ces  7  25  45  20  15  112  112  110

Catalogue merchandise pick-up locations  300  516  606  503  191  2,116  2,258  2,233

Auto centres  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  49

One of Sears most important strengths is the recognition and reputation of the Company’s name in Canada and its 
brands, such as Kenmore, Craftsman, Whole Home, Jessica, and Nevada. Independent consumer surveys rank Sears 
high for customer service, trust, respect and quality products and services. Through this brand equity, Sears has been 
able to achieve the leading market share in a number of product categories, including major appliances, window 
coverings, fi tness equipment, and many lines of women’s and men’s apparel.
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Retail Channels

Full-Line Department Stores – Sears Full-line department stores are located primarily in suburban enclosed 
shopping centres. The major merchandise categories include the following: 

Home & Hardlines – Major appliances, home furnishings, home décor, lawn and garden, hardware, electronics 
and fi tness equipment.

Apparel & Accessories – Women’s, men’s and children’s apparel, cosmetics, jewellery, footwear and accessories.

Although merchandise varies by store, the merchandise sales mix between the two major categories is approximately 
55% apparel & accessories and 45% home & hardlines. 

Full-line department stores also offer home installation products and services and include a Sears catalogue 
merchandise pick-up location. Sears Travel offi ces and licensed businesses, such as optical centres and photo studios, 
are also located in most of the Company’s Full-line department stores. Stores are broadly classifi ed under three 
categories depending on volume, store size, location and market demographics. The attributes for each category are 
shown in the following table:

Category # of Stores Attributes

Select 26  Larger, urban markets that tend to offer more upscale merchandise, 
usually two or more fl oors with store size ranging from 150,000 to 
300,000 square feet

1
 

Core 62  Urban markets, usually one or two fl oors with store size ranging from 
100,000 to 200,000 square feet

Satellite 35  Smaller markets with store size ranging from 25,000 to 125,000 square feet

1  Excludes the Eaton Centre store located in Toronto and the Pacifi c Centre store located in Vancouver, each of which is over 500,000 square feet.

Sears Home Stores – Sears Home stores are typically located in power centres and present an extensive selection of 
furniture, mattresses and box-springs, and major appliances. The majority of these stores range in size from 35,000 
to 60,000 square feet. Home improvement showrooms (Sears HomeCentral) are located within 12 Sears Home 
stores. The showrooms provide a range of products and services sold under the Sears HomeCentral banner that are 
complementary to home furnishings and major appliances.

Appliances and Mattresses Stores – Introduced in 2004, the Sears Appliances and Mattresses stores are part of the 
Company’s strategy to bring its product categories to a growing number of customers who shop in conveniently 
located power centres. These stores are smaller in size (10,000 – 15,000 square feet) and feature a wide selection 
of major appliances, mattresses and box-springs, and include Sears private label and a variety of national brands. 

Outlet Stores – Sears Outlet stores offer in-season clearance merchandise, particularly from the Company’s Direct 
channels, as well as surplus inventory of big-ticket items from all channels.
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Dealer Stores – Sears Dealer stores offer major appliances, furniture, home electronics, lawn and garden power 
products as well as a catalogue merchandise pick-up location. Selections vary by dealer – for example, mattress 
sets are offered in 67 Sears Dealer stores while 35 stores include furniture. Most Dealer stores are located in 
markets that had previously been served by a catalogue agent but lacked the population to support a Full-line 
department store. 

Home Improvement Showrooms – Sears home improvement showrooms include Sears Floor Covering Centres, 
Sears Coverings stores and Sears HomeCentral showrooms located within Sears Home stores.

• Floor Covering Centres – Sears Floor Covering Centres are independent, licensed centres that offer an assortment 
of broadloom and hard fl oor coverings.

• Coverings Stores – As part of the Company’s strategic initiatives, two Sears Coverings stores were introduced 
in 2004. The Sears Coverings stores range in size from 10,000 – 12,000 square feet and offer home décor 
solutions for the “Do It For Me” customer, featuring a broad selection of custom and ready-made window 
coverings, fl ooring, custom wall-to-wall carpet and area rugs, paint and wallpaper. In 2005, the Coverings 
store in Mississauga (Ontario) was closed. The Company continues to assess customers’ response to the Sears 
Coverings stores concept. 

• Sears HomeCentral Showrooms – In addition to the 12 Sears HomeCentral showrooms located within Sears 
Home stores, the Company has two free-standing locations. They all offer Sears HomeCentral services and are 
further discussed in the “Sears HomeCentral” section immediately below.

Sears HomeCentral – Sears HomeCentral services are marketed through 88 Full-line department stores and the 
14 Sears HomeCentral showrooms, by telephone at 1-800-4-MY-HOME (English) or 1-800-LE-FOYER (French) 
and online at sears.ca. Sears HomeCentral provides a broad range of home services, including the sale, installation, 
maintenance and repair of heating and cooling equipment, roofi ng, doors and windows, fl ooring and window 
coverings. In addition, home services such as kitchen and bathroom renovations, home security, carpet and upholstery 
cleaning, duct cleaning, and water service are offered. Sears product repair service is the largest and most 
comprehensive parts and service network in Canada, with over 800,000 parts available and a network of over 2,000 
technicians and contractors. 

Cantrex Buying Group – Acquired in April 2005, Cantrex Buying Group is the largest buying group in Canada, 
representing 873 independent retailers with over 1,200 locations across Canada. 

Corbeil – Acquired in April 2005, Corbeil is a small chain of major appliance specialty stores located in Quebec 
and Eastern Ontario. There are 28 stores in the chain, 21 of which are franchised. Stores average just over 
7,500 square feet in size. 

Travel – Sears Travel Service operates within 107 Sears Full-line department stores, fi ve additional outlets, 
a call centre and an online travel service at searstravel.ca. 
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Auto Centres – In 2004, Sears exited the automotive parts and services industry. During the second and third 
quarter of 2004, the Company transferred its assets from 39 of its 52 auto centres to Active Green & Ross, Kal Tire, 
and President Tire. These three auto service and tire providers are operating in the former Sears auto centre 
locations under three separate license agreements. The remaining 13 auto centres were either closed or converted 
for use in the Company’s merchandise operations.

The gross square footage for corporate store locations is provided in the table below:

(square feet; millions)      2005  2004  2003

Full-line department stores      17.7  17.4  17.4
Sears Home stores      2.2  2.2  2.1
Outlet stores      0.9  1.0  1.2
Appliances and Mattresses stores      0.1  0.1  –

Total      20.9  20.7  20.7

Direct Channels

With two distribution centres exclusively dedicated to servicing the direct channels and with 2,116 catalogue 
merchandise pick-up locations nationwide, Sears is able to deliver orders within 72 hours in most areas of the 
country. Orders can be placed by telephone at 1-800-26-SEARS, by mail, fax, online at sears.ca or in person 
through Sears stores and catalogue agents. At the end of 2005, approximately 1,950 catalogue merchandise pick-up 
locations were operated under independent local ownership, with the balance located within selected Sears locations.

• Catalogue – In 2005, 20 different catalogues were distributed throughout Canada reaching up to approximately 
four million households. The Sears Wish Book, the Company’s annual holiday gift guide, was also available 
on CD ROM. 

• Sears.ca – Sears.ca continues to be one of the leading online shopping destinations in Canada. In 2005, sears.ca 
improved the customer shopping experience by adding better features and functionality, as well as by expanding the 
merchandise and promotional offerings available online. Sears is committed to maintaining its reputation as a 
trusted Canadian retailer by focusing on customer privacy, security and satisfaction when shopping on sears.ca.

Logistics

Distribution Service Centres – Sears operates fi ve distribution centres and warehouse facilities strategically located 
across the country. The total fl oor area of these service centres and warehouse facilities was 7.7 million square feet 
at the end of 2005.

S.L.H. Transport Inc. (“SLH”) – Sears wholly-owned subsidiary, SLH, transports merchandise to stores, catalogue 
merchandise pick-up locations and directly to customers. SLH is responsible for providing logistics services for the 
Company’s merchandising operations. SLH operates a fl eet of tractors and trailers to provide carrier services for 
Sears and contract carrier services to commercial customers who are unrelated to Sears. This increases SLH’s fl eet 
utilization and improves the effi ciency of its operations. SLH continues to grow and has developed a nationwide 
distribution network to provide better and more consistent service to its customers.
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i. Strategic Initiatives

Sears is dedicated to providing its customers with quality merchandise and exceptional service coast to coast. Sears 
believes that revenue growth can be achieved by pursuing customer satisfaction through merchandise selection, 
appropriate pricing of merchandise and quality levels of service. A number of initiatives which were introduced to 
enhance the Company’s growth and performance are listed below. 

Merchandising and Pricing Strategy – As part of its strategic initiatives, Sears is focusing its merchandising 
strategy on destination categories in its department stores. Destination categories, which include major appliances, 
home décor, home furnishings, cosmetics & accessories, and men’s and women’s apparel, are categories in which 
Sears has market leadership and can leverage its reputation for trust and service. The Company will also offer 
products which complement the destination categories and complete the general merchandise assortment. 

During 2005, the Company initiated a program to increase sales in its major appliances business. The Company’s 
strategy for this business includes increasing volume through an expanded assortment, larger store departments, 
and enhanced in-store presentation. In addition, Sears intends to reduce the number of customer returns of major 
appliances and has introduced a new and more limited returns policy which is competitive with other retailers. 

Sears pricing strategy is anchored around its Value Strategy offering everyday value in addition to an active 
promotional program. The Value Strategy allows the Company to have a signifi cant amount of merchandise at 
everyday prices, reducing the amount of promotional costs. Sears Value Strategy consists of Sears Value, Sears 
More Value, and Sears Best Value. Sears Value Strategy focuses on solutions for the customer – from coordinating 
a particular look to providing easy-to-understand product benefi ts and features. This strategy is intended to allow 
the Company to increase the average transaction value and improve profi tability.

Cantrex Acquisition – On April 29, 2005, Sears acquired Cantrex, a Canadian subsidiary of General Electric Capital 
Corporation. Cantrex is Canada’s largest buying group representing 873 independent retailers of furniture, 
appliances, electronics, photography equipment and fl oor coverings. Cantrex earns revenues from members and 
suppliers for services provided. Revenues from suppliers are primarily for early payment discount and consolidated 
billing services, while member revenues are derived from services provided, such as group advertising. As an 
intermediary, Cantrex Buying Group does not hold or take ownership of any inventory. 

The acquisition included Corbeil, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cantrex, which is a Montreal-based retailer of major 
appliances with locations primarily in Quebec. Corbeil earns retail revenues from its seven corporate stores and 
wholesale revenues from its 21 franchised stores. The acquisition provides opportunities to further develop Sears 
merchandising, buying, and logistics services in the furniture and appliances sectors, as well as growth in transaction 
volumes on the Sears Card. Annual retail sales for Cantrex members and Corbeil stores are approximately 
$1.2 billion. The associated volume of purchases from suppliers will enable the Company to negotiate more 
advantageous terms. Sears accounts only for those sales generated in its corporately owned stores, and from 
services provided as discussed above. Revenues directly attributable to the Cantrex businesses exceeded $35 million 
in the 13-week period ended December 31, 2005 and $100 million since the date of acquisition. 



 36 Sears Canada Inc.  

New Store Formats – Early in 2005, the Company continued the growth of its Full-line department stores with the 
opening of its fi rst free-standing department store located in Charlottetown (Prince Edward Island). This new 
concept is a way of bringing Sears Full-line department stores closer to residential neighbourhoods not served by 
traditional shopping malls. They feature a modern, easy-to-shop design, offering a wide range of private and national 
brand merchandise and also contain a merchandise pick-up location for catalogue and online orders. 

In the absence of new enclosed shopping mall growth in Canada, Sears strategy has been focused on expanding 
off-mall through various formats, including its Sears Home, Dealer and Outlet stores, the Appliances and Mattresses 
stores introduced in 2004, and the 2005 acquisition of Cantrex. The strategy is to not only offer customers a wider 
variety of products and greater product selection, but also to have the merchandise easily accessible to a growing 
customer segment which shops in these locations. 

In 2003, Sears unveiled a new Sears Full-line department store prototype with the renovations of the Polo Park 
store (Winnipeg, Manitoba) and the Square One store (Mississauga, Ontario). This prototype is part of a multi-year 
strategic plan for new and renovated stores and was developed in response to consumer research indicating that 
customers want an easy-to-shop environment with exceptional customer service. The prototype design offers an 
easy-to-shop interior with wider aisles, clear and bright sightlines and colour-coded departments that allow 
customers to navigate through the store more quickly and easily. Customer service centres have been placed in 
highly visible locations and situated next to fi tting rooms to allow sales associates to better service customers. 
As at February 28, 2006, the Company had 14 Full-line department stores utilizing this design, including the 
stores in Timmins and Brockville (Ontario) which were relocated in 2005, the free-standing store in Charlottetown 
(Prince Edward Island), and in the Avalon Mall store (St. John’s, Newfoundland and Labrador) which opened 
during the fall of 2005. 

Direct Channel Business Growth – The Company is continuously refi ning its catalogue and online business models. 
Improved inventory management resulting from the redesign of the catalogue business model in 2003 continued in 
2005. Sears continues to enhance the shopping experience on sears.ca and in 2005 introduced sears.ca/baby which 
has an added assortment of furniture, sheets, lamps, and many more products for expectant parents. As well, an 
online program called ‘Direct to Web’ was launched to further enhance the Sears internet shopping experience. This 
initiative offers merchandise exclusively on sears.ca.

In April 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with Amazon Services, Inc. (“Amazon”), a subsidiary of 
Amazon.com, Inc., to create an enhanced online shopping experience for sears.ca customers. Through joint efforts 
between Sears and Amazon, a signifi cant portion of the development of the new Sears website was completed in 
2005. Following further development and testing, the new site is expected to be launched in the summer of 2006, 
unveiling a completely redesigned Sears website that will continue to focus on Sears products, brands, and services. 
This new alliance will leverage Sears strengths of merchandising, marketing, fulfi llment and customer service with 
Amazon’s proven technical and creative capabilities.
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Productivity Improvement Initiatives – As previously discussed in the “Strategic Initiatives” section under the 
heading “Company Performance” of this MD&A, the Company is focused on realizing pre-tax annualized savings 
of at least $100 million through a series of productivity improvement initiatives. A pre-tax restructuring charge 
of $67.3 million related to the Company’s strategic staffi ng initiative to reduce the workforce by approximately 
1,200 associates was recorded during the second half of 2005 as a non-comparable item. Included in this initiative 
were severance costs of those associates affected by the consolidation of the buying, marketing and procurement 
activities of the Montreal buying offi ce. Staff reductions did not affect areas in direct contact with its customers in 
order to maintain the Company’s level of service. Sears continues to monitor the success of its various productivity 
improvement initiatives, and intends to adjust its organizational structure as appropriate to ensure the effi cient 
allocation of the Company’s resources. 

ii. Results from Merchandising Operations

    % Chg 2005   % Chg 2004
(in millions)  2005  vs 2004  2004  vs 2003  2003

Revenues $ 5,841.6   0.5%   $ 5,814.7  (0.1%) $ 5,818.2

Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes $ 140.7   17.3%   $ 119.9  (28.7%) $ 168.2

Average capital employed $ 1,016.2   2.8%   $ 988.6   (7.9%) $ 1,073.1

As previously discussed in the “Strategic Initiatives” section under the heading “Company Performance” of this 
MD&A, Sears is entitled to performance payments from JPMorgan Chase from the operation of the Credit and 
Financial Services operations which were sold to JPMorgan Chase. Income received from November 15, 2005 
to December 31, 2005 is reported in the merchandising segment. In addition, corporate overhead expenses and 
other expenses related to customer loyalty programs, which were previously reported in the credit segment, are 
reported in this segment for the same period. 

2005 Compared with 2004 – Merchandise revenues increased in 2005 primarily due to the acquisition of Cantrex, 
an increase in service-related revenues from SLH and product repair services, and performance payments earned 
pursuant to the strategic alliance with JPMorgan Chase for the period November 15, 2005 to December 31, 2005. 
This increase was partially offset by a decrease in merchandise sales across most channels. In 2005, the Company 
experienced sales declines across several categories, including seasonal merchandise where sales in 2004 were driven 
by signifi cant markdowns in patio sets, gas grills and air conditioners. Other categories with decreased sales in 2005 
which contributed to a same store sales decrease of 2.9% included hardware, window coverings, housewares, 
luggage, and children’s wear. 

Sales on sears.ca increased 13.4% in 2005 versus an increase of 17.1% in 2004. Sales were particularly strong 
in window coverings, home furnishings and major appliances. As well, a decline in liquidation sales contributed to 
an increase in the profi tability of this channel in 2005. 
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Payroll and certain related expenses decreased in 2005 due to the implementation of various productivity 
improvement initiatives during the second half of 2005. 

Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes for merchandising operations increased during 2005 
compared to 2004, primarily due to higher revenues, a higher gross margin rate as previously discussed in the 
“Consolidated Financial Results” and “Quarterly Results” sections of this MD&A, and improved productivity.

Average capital employed for merchandising operations increased in 2005 compared to 2004, primarily due to 
an increase in cash which was partially offset by an increase in income taxes payable, both related to the sale 
of the Credit and Financial Services operations. The average level of inventories, including Cantrex inventory, 
was marginally higher in 2005.

2004 Compared with 2003 – Revenues from merchandising operations in 2004 remained consistent with the 
previous year. In 2004, on a comparable week basis, same-store sales increased 1.6% over 2003 primarily due 
to an increase in sales of home furnishings, footwear, major appliances and men’s wear, which was partially 
offset by a reduction in sales of children’s wear and housewares. 

The Kenmore brand continued to be an excellent performer, contributing to the sustained growth in major appliances. 

Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes for merchandising operations decreased during 2004 
compared to 2003, primarily due to revenues remaining fl at and a lower gross margin rate.

Sears manages inventories to offer appropriate items while minimizing associated costs. The level of inventory at 
a given point may not be representative of the levels for the year, therefore management looks at average inventory. 
Average monthly inventory levels in 2004 were $837 million compared to $840 million in 2003.

Average capital employed for merchandising operations was lower in 2004 compared to 2003 due to a decrease 
in inventories and future income tax assets.

b. Credit Operations

Prior to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005, Sears credit business was 
operated by Sears Canada Bank, a wholly-owned federally regulated Schedule I bank. Sears Canada Bank extended 
credit to qualifi ed customers by means of the Sears Card and Sears MasterCard and also provided loyalty rewards. 
Credit operations were focused on managing and fi nancing customer accounts with attention to the quality of its 
portfolio. The Bank’s customers were serviced by the Company’s Credit Central departments located in Vancouver 
and Ottawa. The Credit Central departments performed customer service, account and transaction authorization and 
collection activities. The fi nancial results of the credit segment include the results of Sears Canada Bank up to and 
including November 14, 2005. 



 2005 Annual Report 39

The majority of Sears employees employed in the Credit and Financial Services operations were transferred to 
JPMorgan Chase in connection with the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. Sears associates at 
the corporate stores continue to provide customers with opportunities to apply for the Sears Card and to accept 
payments on the Sears Card. 

i. Strategic Initiatives

Please see the section titled “Strategic Initiatives” under the heading “Company Performance” of this MD&A for 
a discussion of the Company’s sale of its Credit and Financial Services operations to JPMorgan Chase and its 
long-term marketing and strategic alliance with JPMorgan Chase. 

ii. Results from Credit Operations

    % Chg 2005   % Chg 2004
(in millions)  2005  vs 2004  2004  vs 2003  2003

 Operating revenues $ 388.2  (10.1%)  $ 432.0   0.4%  $ 430.1
 Effect from sale of receivables  2.0    5.8     (0.7)
 Securitization funding cost  (47.0)    (74.7)    (81.6)

Net credit revenues $ 343.2  (5.5%) $ 363.1   4.4% $ 347.8

 Operating earnings  142.7  (16.2%)  170.2   0.2%  169.8 
 Effect from sale of receivables  2.0    5.8     (0.7)
 Securitization funding cost  (47.0)    (74.7)    (81.6)

Earnings before interest, unusual items and income taxes $ 97.7  (3.6%) $ 101.3  15.8% $ 87.5 

Average capital employed $ 1,227.1  (13.4%) $ 1,417.7  14.9% $ 1,233.9

2005 Compared with 2004 – Operating revenues, net credit revenues and earnings before interest, unusual items 
and income taxes decreased in 2005 compared to the same period in 2004, primarily due to the sale of the Credit 
and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005.

Securitization funding costs were lower in 2005 due to the combined effect of lower funding requirements and the 
sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. Prior to November 15, 2005, securitization was a fi nancial 
vehicle which provided the Company with access to funds at a relatively low cost. Following the sale of the Credit 
and Financial Services operations, JPMorgan Chase assumed all of the debt and costs related to securitization. 
More information on securitization is available in the section titled “Securitization” under the heading “Off-Balance 
Sheet Arrangements” of this MD&A. 
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Average capital employed for credit operations decreased in 2005 compared to 2004, primarily due to the sale 
of the Credit and Financial Services operations. As previously mentioned in the section titled “Sale of Credit and 
Financial Services Operations” under the heading “Non-Comparable Items” of this MD&A, the Company sold 
substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the Credit and Financial Services operations, including its Sears 
Card and Sears MasterCard credit portfolio, to JPMorgan Chase. 

2004 Compared with 2003 – In the 52-week period ending January 1, 2005, operating revenues and earnings 
slightly surpassed the 53-week period ending January 3, 2004. On a comparable week basis, operating revenues 
increased from that of 2003 due to increased revenues from the Sears MasterCard. 

Net revenues from credit operations increased during 2004 compared to 2003, primarily due to lower securitization 
funding costs, resulting from the Company’s reduced funding requirements and the effective gain on the sale of 
receivables. The effect from the sale of receivables was the result of the accounting treatment of a funding 
transaction, and should not be interpreted as an indication of the quality of the Sears credit portfolio nor the 
ability of Sears to raise funds. Additional information on the accounting method for securitization can be found in 
the “Non-Comparable Items” section of this MD&A and in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Average capital employed for credit operations increased in 2004 compared to 2003, primarily due to an increase 
in credit card receivables as well as a decrease in the amount of receivables securitized resulting from a lower level 
of required funding.

Credit Card Share – The Company continues to monitor purchases on Sears Card and Sears MasterCard since 
a signifi cant amount of income from JPMorgan Chase is based on a percentage of sales charged on these cards. 

The following table indicates the proportion of Sears customer purchases that are made through various methods 
of payment during 2005, 2004, and 2003 in the Company’s Full-line, Home, Outlet and Direct channel businesses:

       2005  2004  2003

Proprietary cards
1
      54.4%  55.9%  57.6%

Third party credit cards      20.5%  19.2%  17.8%
Debit cards      12.4%  12.1%  11.6%
Cash      12.7%  12.8%  13.0%

Total      100.0%  100.0%  100.0%
1 Includes Sears Card and Sears MasterCard

c. Real Estate Joint Venture Operations 

Sears has joint venture interests in 14 shopping centres across Canada and carries the proportionate share of 
these interests in its consolidated fi nancial statements. Joint venture interests range from 15% to 50%, and are 
co-owned with major shopping centre owners and institutional investors. Sears is not involved in the day-to-day 
management of the shopping centres, but is actively involved in all major decisions. In March 2005, the Company 
sold its proportionate interest in the Place des Bois Franc (Victoriaville, Quebec) shopping centre. See the 
“Non-Comparable Items” section of this MD&A for more information.
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i. Strategic Initiatives 

The primary objective of Sears real estate joint venture operations is to maximize the returns on its investment 
in shopping centre real estate. Sears reviews the performance of these joint ventures on a regular basis. 

ii. Results from Real Estate Joint Venture Operations

     % Chg 2005   % Chg 2004 
(in millions)  2005  vs 2004  2004  vs 2003  2003

Revenues $ 52.8  0.2% $ 52.7  (7.1%) $ 56.7

Earnings before interest, unusual items, and income taxes $ 20.4  (22.7%) $ 26.4  (10.5%) $ 29.5

Average capital employed $ 144.8  (7.8%) $ 157.1  (6.7%) $ 168.3

The current market value of Sears interest in its real estate joint venture properties is estimated to be approximately 
$340 million ($332 million at the end of 2004 and $330 million at the end of 2003). It is Sears policy to have 
one-third of the properties independently appraised each year, while the appraisals of the remaining two-thirds are 
reviewed and updated by management. Sears portion of the debt of these properties was $114 million at the end 
of 2005 ($118 million at the end of 2004 and $135 million at the end of 2003).

Of the 14 real estate joint venture properties, 12 contain a Sears Full-line department store. Revenues in the table 
above exclude Sears proportionate share of revenues of $2.5 million in 2005 ($2.6 million in 2004 and $3.0 million 
in 2003) earned from the Sears Full-line department stores.

Earnings and the average capital employed in the real estate joint venture segment decreased in 2005 compared to 
2004 due to the sale of the Company’s proportionate interest in the Place des Bois Franc (Victoriaville, Quebec) 
shopping centre. Earnings and the average capital employed for real estate joint venture operations decreased in 
2004 compared to 2003 due to the sale of the Company’s proportionate interest in the Pine Centre (Prince George, 
British Columbia) shopping centre. 

3. Liquidity and Financial Position 

At December 31, 2005, the ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 1.1:1 compared to 2.0:1 at 
January 1, 2005, and 1.9:1 at January 3, 2004. The change in 2005 from 2004 was primarily due to the net 
effect of an increase of $697.1 million in cash, a reduction of $1.5 billion in accounts receivable, increases in 
income and other taxes payable, and the classifi cation of the 2006 long-term debt maturity to current liabilities. 
Changes in cash, accounts receivable and income taxes resulted primarily from the sale of the Credit and 
Financial Services operations.

At December 31, 2005, the net working capital was $0.219 billion compared to $1.318 billion at January 1, 2005 
and $1.124 billion at January 3, 2004. 

Please refer to the “Capital Resources”, “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements”, and “Funding Costs” sections of this 
MD&A as well as the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the Company’s long-term 
fi nancing obligations and its ability to access funds through a secured revolving credit facility and a secured term 
loan negotiated during 2005.
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The following table shows year-end total assets for 2005, 2004, and 2003:

(in millions, as at year-end)      2005  2004  2003

Total Assets    $  3,198.6   $ 4,262.4   $ 4,139.2

The decrease in total assets in 2005 compared to 2004 was mainly due to a decrease in accounts receivable and 
lower capital assets, partially offset by an increase in cash. 

At the end of 2005 the level of inventories, including inventory held by Cantrex of $25.7 million, was $788.2 million 
compared to $789.8 million at the end of 2004. 

In 2004, total assets increased compared to 2003. This increase was primarily due to an increase of $167.2 million 
in customer account receivables retained by the Company as a result of lower securitized funding. Please see the 
“Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” section of this MD&A and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
In 2004, inventories decreased by $11.5 million (1.4%) compared to 2003.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities – Cash fl ow generated from operations was $67.9 million lower in 2005 
than in 2004, and $32.2 million higher in 2004 compared to 2003. The lower cash fl ow in 2005 was primarily 
due to changes in miscellaneous account receivables and accounts payable, and utilization of future income tax 
assets. The net cash outfl ow was the result of an increase in account receivables due to the amounts owed from 
JPMorgan Chase and a decrease in accounts payable due to the Company’s effective inventory and expense 
management. These cash outfl ows were partially offset by an increase in taxes payable and a reduction in the 
comparable levels of inventories. 

The increase in cash fl ow in 2004 was primarily due to a source of funds in 2004 from changes in non-cash working 
capital balances compared to a use of funds in 2003. This was partially offset by a lower source of funds from non-
cash items included in 2004 earnings compared to 2003. Changes in accounts payable and inventories contributed 
positively to the 2004 cash fl ow from operations. Ending inventories decreased in 2004 compared to 2003. These 
changes in non-cash working capital balances in 2004 were partially offset by the reduction in non-cash items 
resulting from adjustments in future income tax assets and the disposal of capital assets associated with the Pine 
Centre joint venture transaction.

Cash Flow generated from (used for) Investment Activities – In 2005, cash fl ow generated from investment 
activities was $2.4 billion, approximately $2.7 billion higher than 2004, primarily due to cash proceeds received 
from the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations and a reduction in the purchase of capital assets. 
This increase was partially offset by the acquisition of Cantrex. 

During 2005, cash used for capital expenditures was $86 million, compared to $156 million in 2004 and 
$208 million in 2003. Capital expenditures in 2005 included $49 million for Full-line initiatives, $10 million 
for logistics and online services and $14 million for information systems. In 2006, management expects capital 
expenditures of approximately $100 million to be funded through cash fl ow from operations. The Company expects 
to spend approximately $50 million on information systems, logistics and online, while the remainder will primarily 
be spent on initiatives to enhance the corporate stores.

In 2004, cash used for investment activities was mainly related to capital expenditures and a reduction in charge 
account receivables. 
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Cash Flow used for Financing Activities – In 2005, cash fl ow used for fi nancing activities was $2.0 billion, 
compared to $53.5 million in 2004. Of the $2.4 billion in pre-tax cash proceeds received from the sale of the Credit 
and Financial Services operations, the Company distributed approximately $2.0 billion to shareholders, comprised 
of an extraordinary dividend of approximately $1.53 billion and a return of capital of approximately $470.4 million. 
The Company received $17.7 million of cash proceeds from the issuance of capital stock under the Employees 
Stock Plan. 

In 2004, $25.6 million was used to pay dividends while another $18.6 million was used to reduce long-term 
obligations. Long-term obligations decreased in the real estate joint venture segment due to the sale of the Pine 
Centre joint venture interest. 

Cash dividends of $0.06 per share were declared on a quarterly basis throughout 2003, 2004, and 2005. The 
Board of Directors has authorized the payment of a quarterly dividend of $0.06 per share on March 15, 2006 to 
shareholders of record on February 15, 2006. As at December 31, 2005, the only shares outstanding were the 
common shares of the Company. The number of outstanding common shares at the end of 2005, 2004, and 2003 
is shown in the following table:

(as at year-end)      2005  2004  2003

Outstanding shares     107,402,807  106,269,994  106,798,464

In 2005, outstanding shares increased due to the issuance of 1,132,813 shares under the Employees Stock Plan 
and the Stock Option Plan for Directors. 

The number of issued and outstanding shares as at February 28, 2006 is 107,416,752.

As at February 28, 2006, the number of outstanding options and Deferred Share Units are as follows:

Employees Stock Plan: 505,146 options
Stock Option Plan for Directors: 5,000 options
Deferred Share Units: 
 Employees: 203,500
 Directors: 54,740

Contractual Obligations – Contractual obligations, including payments due over the next fi ve years and thereafter, 
are shown in the following table: 

      Payments Due by Period

       2007 to  2009 to  2011 &
(in millions, as at year-end)  Total  2006  2008  2010   beyond

Long-term debt (excluding capital lease obligations) $ 739 $ 214 $ 141 $ 350 $ 34 

Capital lease obligations  10  2  5  2  1

Operating leases  921  123  218  164  416
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As a result of granting security under the credit facility and term loan entered on December 22, 2005 (see the 
“Capital Resources” section of this MD&A), the Company granted security on its outstanding debentures and 
medium-term notes included in the long-term debt as shown in the table above. The Company has not identifi ed 
any reasonably foreseeable circumstances that would trigger any early payment or acceleration provisions in the 
debt portfolio.

Pension & Post Retirement Benefi t Obligations – The net expense incurred relating to the Company’s obligations for 
pensions and post retirement benefi ts increased by approximately $5.5 million to $50.4 million in 2005, due to the 
liability discount rate used in 2005 decreasing 25 basis points compared to 2004. The Company continues to review 
the impact of changes in economic conditions, the recent strategic staffi ng initiative, and the sale of its Credit and 
Financial Services operations on the net pension expense. It is estimated that the net expense in 2006 will increase 
by approximately $5-$15 million over 2005.

4. Capital Resources

The Company’s capital expenditures, working capital needs, dividend payments, debt repayment, and other fi nancing 
needs are funded through a variety of sources. Following the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, 
funding through the securitization of the credit card receivables is no longer available. However, Sears has fi nancial 
capacity and fl exibility through access to other funding sources, including bank fi nancing, which allows the Company 
to effectively manage liquidity and interest rate risk. Liquidity risk is the measure of the Company’s ability to fund 
maturities and provide for the operating needs of its businesses. Interest rate risk is the effect on net income from 
changes in interest rates. The Company’s policy is to manage interest rate risk through the strategic use of fi xed and 
variable rate debt and interest rate derivatives. Sears does not use derivatives for trading purposes. 

Late in the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company entered into a secured $200 million three-year revolving credit 
facility and a secured U.S. $260 million seven-year term loan with a syndicate of lenders. Loans under the 
revolving credit facility will be used for working capital and general corporate requirements, including the issuance 
of letters of credit, while two-thirds of the term loan was used to repay $200 million in medium-term notes which 
matured on March 15, 2006. As at February 28, 2006, there were no borrowings from the revolving credit facility 
other than letters of credit issued under the Company’s offshore merchandise purchasing program. 

The revolving credit facility and the U.S. dollar denominated term loan bear interest at variable rates, which 
can be based on any of Canadian prime rate, BA rate or LIBOR rate, and an interest rate spread over these 
reference rates which depends on the fi nancial performance of the Company. There are fi nancial and non-fi nancial 
covenants included in the credit facility agreement which impact the Company’s ability to draw funds and determine 
the cost of those funds. The fi nancial covenants are based on the Company’s fi xed charge, debt to EBITDA and 
liquidity ratios and are measured quarterly. The Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants as at 
December 31, 2005 and as at February 28, 2006 to allow for drawing on the revolving credit facility and the 
U.S. dollar denominated term loan. 

The Company’s cost of funds is affected by a variety of general economic conditions, including the overall interest 
rate environment, as well as the Company’s fi nancial performance, credit ratings and fl uctuations of its credit 
spread over applicable reference rates. The primary sources of funding include cash generated from operations 
and the ability to draw on the secured credit facility. In selecting appropriate funding choices, the Company’s 
objective is to manage its capital structure in such a way as to diversify its funding sources while minimizing its 
funding costs and risks. 
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In September 2005, Dominion Bond Rating Service (“DBRS”) and Standard & Poors (“S&P”) reduced the 
Company’s corporate credit ratings to BB and BB+, respectively, due to the proposed distribution to shareholders 
of the proceeds from the anticipated sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations. In November 2005, 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) completed its review of the issuer rating of the Company which 
was initiated in March 2005 and issued a rating of Ba2, reduced from the previous rating of Baa2. These reductions 
in the Company’s credit ratings may limit future access to capital markets or adversely affect the cost of borrowing.  

Through cash on hand, cash generated by operations, and available credit lines, Sears expects to be able to satisfy 
all of its fi nancing requirements in 2006. 

5. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Securitization – Prior to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations of the Company, securitization 
of charge account receivables was an important fi nancing vehicle that involved selling customer charge account 
receivables balances to three trusts: SCRT-1992, SCRT-1996 and SCORE Trust. Based on the structure of the 
trusts and the governing accounting rules, the assets and liabilities of these trusts were not refl ected in Sears 
consolidated fi nancial statements. Following the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations on 
November 15, 2005 to JPMorgan Chase, JPMorgan Chase was assigned the rights and obligations of Sears Canada 
Bank and Sears as seller and servicer pursuant to the SCORE Trust securitization program. This arrangement was 
approved by SCORE Trust noteholders on November 2, 2005. The operations of SCRT-1992 and SCRT-1996 were 
discontinued in 2005.

These trusts were established for the purpose of purchasing co-ownership interests in charge account receivables 
generated by the Sears Card and related assets. Charge account receivables generated by the Sears MasterCard 
were not included in the securitization program. The trusts fund their purchase of co-ownership interests through 
the issuance of short and long-term debt, primarily commercial paper and senior and subordinated receivables-
backed notes. Credit ratings for the senior debt issues and commercial paper were AAA and R-1 (high), respectively. 
These are the highest ratings assigned for these debt categories. Commercial paper and senior debt were rated by 
DBRS and, depending on the trust, either S&P or Moody’s. 

Neither the trusts nor holders of notes issued by the trusts had any recourse to Sears retained co-ownership 
interest nor other assets of Sears, except for amounts in the cash reserve account and the interest-only strip 
receivable. Sears acted as the servicer of the charge account receivables, including those subject to the 
co-ownership interests sold to the trusts. Sears retained the right to revenue generated by the charge account 
receivables in excess of the amount of the trusts’ stipulated share. Therefore, any deterioration in the earnings 
generated by the charge account receivables was fi rst borne by Sears and not the trusts. In addition, any 
fl uctuation in interest rates affecting fl oating-rate notes and commercial paper issued by the trusts impacted 
Sears reported revenue from credit operations.

Under the securitization program, there was a daily distribution of collections from charge account receivables and 
a reinvestment of those amounts by the trusts to purchase additional charge account receivables in order to maintain 
existing outstanding debt levels. Where additional funding was required, additional sales of co-ownership interests 
were initiated and additional receivables-backed notes were issued. In some cases, Sears provides additional credit 
support to the receivables-backed notes by contributing a proportional amount of the new debt issued to a cash 
reserve account. The Company had also indirectly funded the purchase of trust units issued by SCRT-1992 and 
SCRT-1996. See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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The following table summarizes the cash fl ows between the Company and the trusts prior to the sale of the Credit 
and Financial Services operations:

(in millions)      2005
2
  2004  2003

Proceeds from New Transfers
1
    $  226.1 $ 663.5 $ 400.2

Proceeds from collections and reinvestments
1
    $  2,135.3 $ 2,501.4 $ 3,148.5

1  A portion of the collections and all new transfers since July 1, 2001 are subject to Accounting Guideline 12. See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for more information.

2 Cash fl ows for the period January 2, 2005 to November 14, 2005.

The chart below outlines the trusts’ securitized obligations at the end of the year. For 2005, balances are 
shown as nil due to the Company’s sale of the Credit and Financial Service operations on November 15, 2005 
and the termination of SCRT-1992 in the second quarter of 2005 upon the repayment of all outstanding debt 
and redemption of trust units. The securitization program continues to be operated by JPMorgan Chase. 

(in millions, as at year-end)      2005  2004  2003

Senior debt
 8.95% due June 1, 2004    $  – $ –  $ 175.0
 5.42% due December 15, 2004      –  –  200.0
 6.681% due June 15, 2005        250.0  250.0
 Floating rate, due June 30, 2006        –  8.0
 5.035% due November 15, 2006        260.0  260.0
 4.949% due February 20, 2014        352.5  –

Total senior debt    $  – $ 862.5 $ 893.0

Subordinated debt
 9.18% due June 1, 2004    $  – $ – $ 3.9
 Floating rate, due 2003 to 2006        55.7  68.2
 6.235% due November 15, 2006        16.6  16.6
 5.629% due February 20, 2014        22.5  –

Total subordinated debt    $  – $ 94.8 $ 88.7

Total debt       $ 957.3 $ 981.7
Commercial paper        282.4  407.3
Trust units (fl oating rate, due 2004 to 2006)        25.7  29.8
Other        (16.9)  0.2 

Total securitized obligations    $  – $ 1,248.5 $ 1,419.0

The outstanding receivables-backed long-term debt of SCRT-1992 which matured on June 15, 2005 was refi nanced 
through the issue of commercial paper by SCORE Trust.

Commercial paper obligations were lower as at January 1, 2005 than the amount outstanding on January 3, 2004 
due to Sears lower overall funding requirements. On February 20, 2004, SCORE Trust issued $352.5 million of 
4.949% senior notes and $22.5 million of 5.629% subordinated notes under its shelf prospectus fi led on February 
11, 2004 that qualifi ed the issuance of up to $3 billion in notes over the next two years. The proceeds from these 
notes were used to repay the receivables-backed long-term debt of SCORE Trust which matured on June 1, 2004 and 
December 15, 2004. 
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Currency and Interest Rate Instruments – The Company mitigates the risk of currency fl uctuation on offshore 
merchandise purchases made in U.S. currency by purchasing U.S. dollar denominated forward contracts for 
approximately 90% of its expected requirements at the time of placement, which is usually six months in advance. 
Sears forecast for its total requirement of U.S. currency in 2006 is approximately U.S. $500 million. As at 
December 31, 2005, there were U.S. $154 million of foreign exchange contracts outstanding (U.S. $160 million 
as at January 1, 2005). 

The Company entered into a U.S./Canadian cross-currency interest rate swap in March 2006 to hedge the currency 
and interest rate exposure risk on the March 15, 2006 draw on the U.S. $260 million term loan facility described 
in the “Capital Resources” section of this MD&A. 

6. Funding Costs

The funding costs for both Company and off-balance sheet borrowings are outlined in the table below:

(in millions)      2005  2004  2003

Interest costs
 Total long-term obligations at end of year     $ 749.3 $ 755.9 $ 770.4
 Average long-term obligations for year      754.5  760.4  775.8
 Long-term funding cost      58.4  59.3  61.4
 Average rate of long-term funding      7.8%  7.8%  7.8%

Securitization costs
1

 Amount securitized at end of year     $ – $ 1,248.5 $ 1,419.0
 Average amount securitized for period      1,104.7  1,381.5  1,413.7
 Cost of funding      47.0  74.8  81.6
 Average rate of securitized funding      4.9%  5.4%  5.7%

Total funding
 Total funding at end of year     $ 749.3 $ 2,004.4 $ 2,189.4
 Average funding for year      1,689.2  2,141.9  2,189.5
 Total funding costs for year      105.4  134.1  143.0
 Average rate of total funding      6.3%  6.3%  6.4%
1 Amounts for the period January 2, 2005 to November 14, 2005.

Funding costs decreased in 2005, primarily due to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, and the 
sale of the Place des Bois Franc (Victoriaville, Quebec) shopping center joint venture interest. The fi xed-to-fl oating 
funding ratio at year end was 71/29 (2004 – including securitized funding – 69/31). Fixed rate debt maturing in the 
next 12 months is considered fl oating rate funding for the purposes of this calculation, resulting in an unusually high 
level of fl oating rate funding at the end of 2005. 

Please see the “Capital Resources” section of this MD&A for a discussion of the Company’s funding sources and 
credit ratings. 
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7. Related Party Transactions

Sears Holdings is the benefi cial holder of the majority of the outstanding common shares of Sears, holding 
approximately 53.7% of the common shares of the Company as at February 28, 2006.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company utilizes Sears Holdings’ international merchandise purchasing 
services. In addition, the Company and Sears Holdings share information technology services from time to time. 
Prior to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005, to JPMorgan Chase, the 
Company reimbursed Sears Holdings for cross-border purchases charged to the Sears Card. Following the sale, 
JPMorgan Chase will settle such amounts directly with Sears Holdings. 

Transactions between the Company and Sears Holdings are recorded at fair market value. More information 
on these transactions is provided in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Reimbursement Agreement

In connection with the sale by the Company of its Credit and Financial Services operations to JPMorgan Chase, 
which included substantially all of the assets of Sears Canada Bank (the “Sears Bank Operations”), Sears Holdings 
requested, in order to accommodate its planning objectives, that Sears Canada Bank sell the Sears Bank Operations 
to JPMorgan Chase rather than fi rst winding up Sears Canada Bank into the Company, with the Company then 
selling such operations to JPMorgan Chase. Sears Holdings agreed to indemnify Sears Canada Bank for the 
estimated increased taxes that Sears Canada Bank would incur by structuring the sale in this manner to ensure that 
the transaction remained tax neutral to Sears Canada Bank and the Company. The amount of this indemnity was 
capped at $10.0 million, with any increase subject to the agreement of Sears Holdings. The Company’s fi nal estimate 
of the additional tax liability was approximately $4.7 million and Sears Holdings paid this amount to the Company 
on January 20, 2006. 

Outstanding Takeover Bid 

As previously described in the “2006 Outlook” section, the Offer by SHLD Acquisition Corp., a wholly-owned 
indirect subsidiary of Sears Holdings, has been extended to, and is open for acceptance until, March 31, 2006.

The Offer constitutes an “insider bid” for purposes of Rule 61-501 of the Ontario Securities Commission and 
Policy Statement Q-27 of the Autorité des marchés fi nanciers du Québec by virtue of the number of common shares 
of the Company held by the Offeror and its affi liates. For further details, see the Offer, the Notice of Extension 
dated March 20, 2006, and the Directors’ Circular dated February 21, 2006.

8. Company Initiated Purchases and Sales of Shares

a. Normal Course Issuer Bid 

On March 4, 2005, the Company renewed its Normal Course Issuer Bid with the Toronto Stock Exchange to permit 
the purchase for cancellation of up to 5% of its outstanding common shares, representing approximately 5.3 million 
common shares. The Company was eligible to make purchases on March 4, 2005 until March 3, 2006, however 
no purchases were made during that period. 
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b. Employee Profi t Sharing Plan

The Company’s employee profi t sharing plan, established in 1976, was discontinued on January 1, 2005. This 
voluntary plan provided for employee and Company contributions. Upon the announcement of the discontinuance 
of the plan, members had the option to retain or sell their common shares of the Company held in the plan. Over 
4.5 million common shares were held by the plan on behalf of approximately 11,600 employees. At the end of 2005, 
the number of outstanding common shares in the tax deferred portion of the Company’s employee profi t sharing 
plan was approximately 118,000. 

c. Stock Option and Share Purchase Plans for Employees and Directors

The Company has three stock-based compensation plans: The Employees Stock Plan, the Stock Option Plan for 
Directors and the Directors’ Share Purchase Plan. The Employees Stock Plan provides for the granting of options 
and Special Incentive Shares and Options, which generally vest over three years and are exercisable within 10 years 
from the grant date. Special Incentive Shares and Options are awarded to offi cers and certain employees of the 
Company on a conditional basis, subject to achievement of specifi ed performance criteria and/or specifi ed vesting 
periods. The Stock Option Plan for Directors provides for the granting of stock options to directors who are not 
employees of the Company or Sears Holdings. Options granted under the Stock Option Plan for Directors generally 
vest over three years and are exercisable within 10 years from the grant date. The Directors’ Share Purchase Plan 
provides for the granting of common shares to directors as part of their annual remuneration for services rendered 
on the Board of Directors.

Under the Employees Stock Plan, employees have the right to elect to take their Special Incentive Shares, upon 
vesting, either on a current or deferred basis, or a combination of both. Special Incentive Shares taken on a current 
basis may be subject to certain restrictions on disposition as the HRCC may determine. Special Incentive Shares 
taken on a deferred basis are credited to a Deferred Share Unit (“DSUs”) account. DSUs can only be redeemed 
for common shares of the Company upon termination of employment from the Company.

Under the Directors’ Share Purchase Plan, directors are granted a number of common shares, as determined annually 
by the Board of Directors, to be taken either on a current basis or as DSUs, or a combination of both. Subject to 
certain exceptions, directors are required to hold their shares taken on a current basis until termination of their 
service to the Board of Directors. The Directors’ Share Purchase Plan also provides directors with the option to 
receive all or a portion of their annual cash retainer in the form of DSUs. Directors’ DSUs are redeemed for either 
common shares purchased by the Company on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”), or the cash equivalent at the 
election of the directors, upon termination of service to the Board of Directors.

The Employees Stock Plan was amended in 1998 to permit the issuance of tandem awards. The Stock Option Plan 
for Directors, which was established in 1998, also permits the issuance of tandem awards. Tandem awards provide 
optionholders with the choice of exercising their awards for either an option to purchase common shares of the 
Company or a Share Appreciation Right (“SARs”). The exercise price for any options cannot be less than the 
“Market Price” under the plan, being the weighted average price at which the shares have traded on the TSX on 
the fi ve trading days preceding the date of the grant. The value of SARs payments is calculated by the amount 
by which the Market Price of a share on the date of exercise of the SARs exceeds the price per share payable on 
the exercise price of the option granted.
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On September 16, 2005, the HRCC passed a resolution to permit all outstanding options granted under the Employee 
Stock Plan, which were not tandem awards, to include SARs. On October 24, 2005, the HRCC approved, among 
other things, the acceleration of the vesting of unvested stock options and Special Incentive Shares granted in 2003 
and 2004 under the Employees Stock Plan together with amendments to the restrictions on the disposition of 
Special Incentive Shares granted in 2003 and 2004. The accelerated vesting occurred immediately following the 
closing of the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005. On February 19, 2006, 
the Board of Directors approved the waiver of restrictions on the disposition of all Special Incentive Shares 
(including DSUs) granted in 2003 and 2004 to offi cers and other employees of the Company, and the redemption 
of all DSUs in order to enable such offi cers and employees to sell or tender their Special Incentive Shares 
and common shares issuable upon redemption of DSUs to the Offer. The number of DSUs outstanding as at 
February 19, 2006 was 217,210.

Effective the beginning of 2005, the Corporation has discontinued the granting of options and Special Incentive 
Shares under the Employees Stock Plan. No stock options have been granted under the Stock Option Plan for 
Directors since the beginning of 2004.

9. Accounting Policies

a. Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of fi nancial statements requires the Company to estimate the effect of various matters that are 
inherently uncertain as of the date of the fi nancial statements. Each of these required estimates varies in regard to 
the level of judgment involved and its potential impact on the Company’s reported fi nancial results. Estimates are 
deemed critical when a different estimate could have reasonably been used or where changes in the estimate are 
reasonably likely to occur from period to period, and would materially impact the Company’s fi nancial condition, 
changes in fi nancial condition or results of operations. The Company’s signifi cant accounting policies are discussed 
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and critical estimates inherent in these accounting policies are 
discussed in the following paragraphs.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts – Prior to the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations, the 
Company recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts to refl ect management’s best estimate of losses inherent in 
its portfolio of credit card receivables as of the balance sheet date. This allowance was established through a charge 
to the provision and represented amounts of current and past due charge account receivables balances (principal, 
fi nance charge and credit card fee balances) which management estimated would not have been collected. The 
Company calculated the allowance for doubtful accounts using a model that considered the current condition of the 
portfolio and factors such as bankruptcy fi lings, historical charge-off patterns, and other portfolio data. The 
Company’s calculation was then reviewed by management to assess whether, based on economic events, additional 
analyses were required to appropriately estimate losses inherent in the portfolio. Management believed that the 
allowance for doubtful accounts was adequate to cover anticipated losses in the reported credit card receivable 
portfolio under current conditions. With the credit card receivables being part of the Credit and Financial Services 
operations sold to JPMorgan Chase on November 15, 2005, the Company no longer needs to record a related 
allowance for doubtful accounts. 

Inventory Valuation – The Company records a provision to refl ect management’s best estimate of the net realizable 
value, including a normal profi t margin of its inventory. The provision is calculated using a model that considers 
variances between normal profi t margins and actual profi t margins across the various inventory categories and 
calculates the provision based on the difference. In addition, a provision for shrinkage and obsolescence is calculated 
based on historical experience. Management reviews the entire provision to assess whether, based on economic 
conditions, it is adequate.
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Revenue Recognition – In-store revenues from merchandise sales and services are reported net of estimated future 
returns and allowances, and are recognized when the related goods are shipped and all signifi cant obligations of the 
Company have been satisfi ed. The reserve for returns and allowances is calculated as a percentage of sales based 
on historical return percentages. Commissions earned on sales made by licensed businesses are also included as 
a component of merchandise sales and services.

The Company markets merchandise directly to consumers through catalogues and online via websites. Revenue 
is recognized for these items when the merchandise is delivered to the customer. 

Revenues from product installation and repair services are recognized as the services are provided. Additionally, 
the Company sells extended service contracts with terms of coverage between 12 and 60 months. Revenues from 
the sale of these contracts are deferred and amortized over the lives of the contracts while the service costs are 
expensed as incurred. 

Prior to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, the Company recognized fi nance charges and 
fee income on credit card receivables according to the contractual provisions of the credit agreements and these 
revenues were recorded until an account was charged off, at which time uncollected fi nance charges and fee 
revenues were recorded as bad debt expense. Following the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, 
performance payments from JPMorgan Chase, which are based on a percentage of sales charged on the Sears Card 
and Sears MasterCard and a percentage of the sales of fi nancial products, are included in revenue when the sale 
occurs. Payments from JPMorgan Chase to reimburse the Company for the cost to generate new accounts and 
process account payments are recorded as an offset to operating, administrative, and selling expenses when the 
transaction occurs.

Vendor Allowances – The Company receives allowances from its vendors through a variety of programs and 
arrangements, including co-operative advertising and markdown reimbursement programs. Given the promotional 
nature of the Company’s business, the allowances are generally intended to offset the Company’s costs of promoting, 
advertising and selling the vendors’ products in its stores. Vendor allowances are recognized as an increase in gross 
margin when the purpose for which the vendor funds were intended to be used has been fulfi lled. Co-operative 
advertising allowances are reported in the period in which the advertising occurred. Markdown reimbursements are 
reported in the period in which the related promotional markdown was taken, and all other allowances are reported 
when the related inventory is sold. 

Self-Insurance Reserves – The Company purchases third-party insurance for automobile, product and general 
liability claims that exceed a certain dollar level. However, the Company is responsible for the payment of claims 
under these insured limits. In estimating the obligation associated with incurred losses, the Company utilizes loss 
development factors validated by an independent third party. These development factors utilize historical data to 
project the future development of incurred losses. Loss estimates are adjusted based upon actual claims settlements 
and reported claims.

Defi ned Benefi t Retirement Plans – The plan obligations and related assets of defi ned benefi t retirement plans are 
presented in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Plan assets, which consist primarily of marketable 
equity and debt instruments, are valued using market quotations. The variability of the plan is discussed in more 
detail in the “Risks & Uncertainties” section of this MD&A.
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The Company has made certain other estimates that, while not involving the same degree of judgment, are important 
to understanding the Company’s fi nancial statements. These estimates are in the areas of assessing recoverability of 
long-lived assets (including intangible assets) and in establishing reserves in connection with restructuring initiatives 
and other unusual items. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments in these areas 
based on its substantial historical experience and other relevant factors. Management’s estimates as of the date 
of the fi nancial statements refl ect its best judgment giving consideration to all currently available facts and 
circumstances. As such, these estimates may require adjustment in the future, as additional facts become known 
or as circumstances change.

b. Accounting Standards Implemented in 2005 

During 2005, Sears adopted several new accounting pronouncements from the CICA that have an impact on 
the Company’s fi nancial results. These new standards are discussed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and the highlights of the impact of the new pronouncements are as follows:

Accounting for Consideration From a Vendor – In January 2005, the EIC of the CICA amended EIC-144 
“Accounting by a Customer for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor”. The Company adopted this new 
guidance retroactively as at January 2, 2005. The guidance distinguishes between discretionary rebates and binding 
agreements. EIC-144 requires companies to recognize discretionary rebates when paid by the vendor or when the 
vendor becomes obligated to pay. For binding agreements, the rebates should be recognized as a reduction of 
purchases for the period, provided the rebate is probable and reasonably estimable. 

This new guidance impacts the timing of recognition of the rebates between the quarters, but does not impact 
the annual fi nancial statements. The impact on the Company’s net income for the 13-week period ended 
December 31, 2005 is a decrease of approximately $3.2 million (2004 – $2.4 million).

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities & Implicit Variable Interests – Effective January 2, 2005 and 
October 17, 2005, the Company adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 15 (“AcG-15”) “Variable Interest Entities” 
(“VIE”) and EIC-157 “Implicit Variable Interests”, respectively. A VIE is defi ned as any type of legal entity that 
is not economically controlled by traditional voting equity, but rather by contractual or other fi nancial arrangements. 
AcG-15 requires consolidation of a VIE by the party with the majority of expected losses or expected residual 
returns, or both. An implicit variable interest is an implied fi nancial interest in an entity that changes with changes 
in the fair value of that entity’s net assets. An implicit variable interest is the same as an explicit variable interest 
except that it involves the absorbing and/or receiving of variability indirectly rather than directly from the entity. 
EIC-157 requires a reporting enterprise to consider whether it holds an implicit variable interest in a VIE or 
potential VIE in order to determine if it is the party with the majority of expected losses or expected residual 
returns, or both. 

Prior to the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations, certain fi nancing and related 
transactions undertaken by the Company were with securitized trusts which may have met the defi nition of a VIE. 
Upon adoption of AcG-15, the Company evaluated its involvement with the trusts and determined that the trusts met 
the requirements for Qualifying Special-Purpose Entities (“QSPEs”) and are therefore exempt from consolidation. 
During the 52-week period ended December 31, 2005, the Company either wound up or transferred to JPMorgan 
Chase all of the trusts utilized for securitization. 
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The Company has also evaluated the impact of this guidance on other legal structures and economic interests 
and has determined that the adoption of AcG-15 and EIC-157 have had no material impact on the Company’s 
fi nancial statements.

Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease – Effective January 2, 2005, the Company adopted the 
new guidance of the CICA regarding whether an arrangement contains a lease. EIC-150 “Determining Whether an 
Arrangement Contains a Lease” requires companies to analyze arrangements that do not take the legal form of a 
lease but convey a right to use a tangible asset. Such arrangements may include, but are not limited to, outsourcing 
arrangements and contracts in which a company must make a payment regardless of whether it takes delivery of 
a contracted product or service. An assessment as to whether an arrangement contains a lease is made at the 
inception of the arrangement. Reassessments are also undertaken when there is a change in the contractual terms, 
a renewal or extension is exercised, or there are other specifi ed changes. The adoption of this guidance had no 
material impact on the Company’s fi nancial statements.

c. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Accounting by a Vendor for Consideration given to a Customer – In September 2005, EIC-156 “Accounting by a 
Vendor for Consideration given to a Customer” was issued by the EIC of the CICA. This guidance is to be applied 
retroactively, with restatement of prior periods, to all interim and annual fi nancial statements for fi scal periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2006. EIC-156 provides guidance to manufacturers, distributors and resellers on 
the income statement classifi cation, recognition and measurement of sales incentives or other consideration given 
by a vendor to a direct or indirect customer. Sears does not expect EIC-156 to have a material impact on the 
Company’s fi nancial statements.

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations – In December 2005, the EIC of the CICA issued EIC-159 “Conditional 
Asset Retirement Obligations” which provides further guidance to section 3110 “Asset Retirement Obligations” 
of the CICA Handbook. In circumstances where the timing and/or method of settlement of a legal asset retirement 
obligation are conditional on a future event, EIC-159 requires an entity to recognize a liability if the fair value 
of the liability can be reasonably estimated. If the liability’s fair value cannot be reasonably estimated, that fact 
and the reasons must be disclosed. EIC-159 is effective for fi scal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2006. 
The Company does not expect this pronouncement to have a material impact on the interim or annual fi nancial 
statements and is currently evaluating what disclosures, if any, may be required beginning the fi rst interim 
period of 2006. 

Financial Instruments 

During 2005, the CICA issued three new standards relating to fi nancial instruments: (1) Financial Instruments – 
Recognition and Measurement; (2) Comprehensive Income; and (3) Hedges. These standards are effective for fi scal 
years beginning on or after October 1, 2006.

Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement (CICA Handbook Section 3855) 

• Financial assets must be classifi ed as held for trading, held to maturity, loans and receivables, or available for sale.

• Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value with gains and losses 
recognized in net income in the periods in which they arise, unless they are part of a hedging relationship.

• Financial assets held to maturity, loans and receivables, and fi nancial liabilities other than those held for trading, 
are measured at amortized cost.
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• Financial assets available for sale are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income until the fi nancial asset is derecognized or becomes impaired.

• Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, other than those 
held for trading, are measured at cost.

• An entity may elect on initial recognition to measure any fi nancial instrument at fair value with gains or losses 
recognized in net income in the periods in which they arise.

Comprehensive Income (CICA Handbook Section 1530) – This section establishes standards for the reporting and 
display of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is the change in equity (net assets) of an enterprise during 
a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. It includes all changes in 
equity during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. 

Comprehensive income is comprised of items recognized in the Statement of Income and other comprehensive 
income, which is not recognized in the Statement of Income. Other comprehensive income includes such items as 
unrealized gains and losses on fi nancial assets that will be held as available for sale, unrealized foreign currency 
translation amounts arising from self-sustaining foreign operations, and changes in the fair value of cash fl ow 
hedging instruments. When the unrealized amounts are realized, they will be recognized in the Statement of Income. 
Until that time, other comprehensive income will form part of shareholders’ equity.

Hedges (CICA Handbook Section 3865) – This new standard replaces Accounting Guideline 13 “Hedging 
Relationships”, which was adopted by the Company in January 2004. This section provides greater clarity for 
optional alternative hedge accounting treatment. Section 3865 addresses situations where hedge accounting 
is permitted and when and how to discontinue hedge accounting. 

Sears is currently evaluating the impact of these standards on the Company’s reporting requirements and 
accounting policies. 

d. Future Accounting Standards 

The Company monitors the standard setting process for new standards issued by the CICA that the Company may 
be required to adopt in the future. Since the impact of a proposed standard may change during the review period, 
the Company does not comment publicly until the standard has been fi nalized and the effects have been determined.

e. Disclosure Controls and Procedure

The Chief Executive Offi cer and the Chief Financial Offi cer of the Company have evaluated, or caused the evaluation 
of, under their supervision, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defi ned 
in Multilateral Instrument 52-109, Certifi cation of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) and have 
concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures operated effectively as at December 31, 2005.

10. Risks & Uncertainties

Sears attempts to mitigate and manage risks wherever possible through various tactics including transferring the 
risk to a third party (outsourcing), protecting against the risk (insurance), planning for the risk (contingency 
planning) and by constantly monitoring its internal and external environment for threats and opportunities. 
This section highlights risks and uncertainties that are inherent in Sears normal course of business and have the 
potential to impact the fi nancial performance of the Company. 
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Business Risks 

Retail Competition – The Canadian retail market remains highly competitive as key players and new entrants 
compete for market share. International retailers continue to expand into Canada while existing competitors enhance 
their product offering and become direct competitors. Sears competitors include traditional Full-line department 
stores, discount department stores, “big box” retailers, internet retailers and specialty stores offering alternative 
retail formats. Failure to develop and implement appropriate competitive strategies could have an adverse effect on 
the Company’s performance.

The majority of the performance payments earned pursuant to the alliance with JPMorgan Chase are related to 
customers’ purchases using the Sears Card and Sears MasterCard. The credit card industry is highly competitive as 
credit card issuers continue to expand their product offerings to distinguish their cards. As competition increases, 
there is a risk that a reduction in the percentage of purchases charged to the Sears Card and Sears MasterCard may 
negatively impact Sears. 

Supplier and Brand Reputations – As a diverse and multi-channel retailer, Sears promotes many brands as part 
of its normal course of business. These brands include the Company’s corporate brand, its private label brands for 
product lines such as Jessica, and non-proprietary brands, such as Weir Golf. Damage to the reputation of these 
brands, or the reputation of the suppliers of these brands, could negatively impact consumer opinion of Sears or 
its related products, which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s performance. 

Seasonality – Sears offers many seasonal goods and services. The Company sets budgeted inventory levels and 
promotional activity in accordance with its strategic initiatives and expected consumer spending changes. Businesses 
that generate revenue from the sale of seasonal merchandise are subject to the risk of changes in consumer spending 
behaviour as a result of unseasonable weather patterns. 

Lease Obligations – Sears operates a total of 188 stores, 19 of which are Company-owned, and the remainder 
of which are held under long-term leases. Company-owned stores consist of 17 Full-line department stores and 
two Sears Home stores. While the Company is able to change its merchandise mix and relocate stores in order to 
maintain its competitiveness, it is restricted from vacating the current site without incurring lease-related expenses 
for the remaining portion of the lease-term. The long-term nature of the leases limits the Company’s ability to 
respond in a timely manner to changes in the demographic or retail environment at any location. 

Operating Covenants – Sears has operating covenants with landlords for approximately 100 of its corporate 
stores. An operating covenant generally requires Sears, during normal operating hours, to operate a store 
continuously as per the identifi ed format in the lease agreement. As at December 31, 2005, the remaining term 
of the various operating covenants range from less than one year to 28 years, with the average remaining term 
being approximately nine years. 

Operating Risks

Unusual Events – Events such as political or social unrest, natural disasters, disease outbreaks or acts of terrorism 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s performance, particularly during a peak season such as the 
month of December, which may account for up to 40% of a year’s earnings. 

Environmental – Sears is exposed to environmental risk as an owner and lessor of property. Under federal and 
provincial laws, the owner or lessor could be liable for the costs of removal and remediation of certain hazardous 
toxic substances on its properties or disposed of at other locations. The failure to remove or remediate such 
substances, if any, could lead to claims against the Company. 
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In previous years, Sears operated gas bars in various locations throughout Canada. Subsequent to the closure of all 
but two locations, the Company has become aware of specifi c locations (including adjacent properties) that require 
environmental remediation. The complete extent of this liability has not yet been determined, but Sears continues to 
monitor the cost of remediation and appropriately provide for this cost in its reserves. 

Eatons Tax Losses – In the event that utilization of the tax losses of Eatons, which the Company acquired on 
December 30, 1999, is disallowed, tax reductions claimed in prior periods will become payable. These amounts, 
and any related amounts remaining in the future income tax assets, will be recorded as a tax expense in the then 
current year. 

Legal Proceedings – As at February 28, 2006, three class actions in the provinces of Quebec, Saskatchewan and 
Ontario were commenced against the Company arising out of Sears pricing of tires. The plaintiffs allege that Sears 
infl ated the regular retail price of certain brands of tires sold by Sears in order to then claim that the same brands 
were on sale for up to 45% off the regular retail price so as to induce potential customers into believing that 
substantial savings were being offered. The plaintiffs seek general damages, special damages, and punitive damages, 
as well as costs and pre- and post-judgment interest. No dollar amounts are specifi ed. The plaintiffs intend to proceed 
with the Quebec action and seek certifi cation as a class action on a national basis. The Company believes these 
allegations are without merit. The outcome of this action is indeterminable, and the monetary damages, 
if any, cannot be reliably estimated. Therefore, the Company has not made a provision for any potential liability.

Two separate class actions with respect to the Sears Card were fi led against the Company pursuant to Quebec law. 
In the fi rst action, which was fi led in 2000, the petitioner seeks to represent all holders of the Sears Card who 
have paid interest on a balance owing since July 1, 1997. The action alleges that the interest rate charged by the 
Company on unpaid monthly balances of users of the Sears Card is contrary to Quebec law. Sears has agreed 
with the petitioner’s counsel to hold this matter in abeyance, without prejudice to the petitioner’s interest, pending 
the outcome of a similar class action case involving another credit card issuer, which is presently under appeal. 
The Company believes these allegations are without merit. The outcome of this action is indeterminable, and the 
monetary damages, if any, cannot be reliably estimated. Therefore, the Company has not made a provision 
for any potential liability.

In the other action, which was fi led in 2003, the petition alleged that the Company, along with other credit card 
issuers who are also named as defendants, have not given their credit cardholders the required 21-day grace period 
to pay off their obligations without attracting credit charges in accordance with Quebec law. The parties reached 
a settlement without admission of liability by the defendants, which was approved by the Superior Court in early 
April 2005. The settlement required the Company to repay interest and lost opportunity costs for the period of 
October 3, 2000 to November 25, 2004 to cardholders in Quebec in a total amount which was not material.

In addition, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of business. 
Sears is of the view that although the outcome of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, the fi nal 
disposition is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated fi nancial position 
or results of operations.



 2005 Annual Report 57

Financial Risks

Economic Environment – There are a number of external factors which affect economic variables and consumer 
confi dence over which the Company exerts no infl uence, including economic cycles, interest rates, personal debt levels, 
unemployment rates and levels of personal disposable income. 

Interest Rates – As mentioned in the “Capital Resources” section of this MD&A, the revolving term credit facility 
and non-revolving term credit facility bear interest at fl oating rates which are dependent on certain reference rates 
and the fi nancial performance of the Company. Rising interest rates caused by changes to the reference rates or 
violations of fi nancial covenants could adversely affect the Company’s funding costs. The Company uses interest rate 
swaps to reduce the impact of variable rate debt. 

Foreign Exchange – The Company’s foreign exchange risk is limited to currency fl uctuations between the Canadian 
and U.S. dollar. The Company uses forward contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk on the majority of its expected 
requirement for U.S. dollars, and employs currency swaps to hedge the risk on U.S. dollar denominated debt. 

Future Benefi t Plans – There is no assurance that the Company’s future benefi t plans will be able to earn the 
assumed rate of return. New regulations and market driven changes may result in changes in the discount rates and 
other variables which would result in the Company being required to make contributions in the future that differ 
signifi cantly from the estimates. Management is required to use assumptions to account for the plans in conformity 
with GAAP. However, actual future experience will differ from these assumptions giving rise to actuarial gains or 
losses. In any year, actual experience differing from the assumptions may be material. The relevant accounting 
standard contemplates such differences and allows these actuarial gains or losses to be recognized over the expected 
average service life of the employee group covered. 

Plan assets, which consist primarily of marketable equity and debt instruments, are valued using market quotations. 
The value of these investments will fl uctuate due to changes in market prices. Plan obligations and annual pension 
expense are determined by independent actuaries and through the use of a number of assumptions. Key assumptions 
in measuring the benefi t obligations and pension plan costs include the discount rate, the rate of compensation 
increase, and the expected return on plan assets. The discount rate is based on the yield of high-quality, fi xed-income 
investments, at the year-end date, with maturities corresponding to the anticipated timing of future benefi t payments. 
The compensation increase assumption is based upon historical experience and anticipated future management 
actions. The expected return on plan assets refl ects the investment strategy and asset allocations of the invested 
assets. Please refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the weighted-
average actuarial assumptions for the plans. 
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The accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements of Sears Canada Inc. and all information in this Annual Report 
are the responsibility of management. The consolidated fi nancial statements and the information contained in the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis have been approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated fi nancial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and include 
certain amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Financial information used elsewhere in this Annual 
Report is consistent with that contained in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Management is responsible for the accuracy, integrity, and objectivity of the fi nancial statements and has developed, 
maintains, and supports an extensive program of internal controls and audits that provide reasonable assurance that 
fi nancial records are reliable and that assets are safeguarded.

The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the fi nancial statements in this Annual Report principally 
through the activities of its Audit Committee, all of whom are outside Directors. In monitoring the fulfi llment 
by management of its responsibilities for fi nancial reporting and internal control, the Audit Committee meets 
periodically with senior offi cers, fi nance management, and internal and external auditors to discuss audit activities, 
internal accounting controls, and fi nancial reporting matters. In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for 
recommending to the Board of Directors the external auditor to be nominated for appointment by the shareholders 
of the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed these consolidated fi nancial statements and has recommended 
their approval by the Board of Directors.

The Company’s external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have conducted audits of the fi nancial records of 
the Company in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report is set out on 
the following page.

Brent Hollister      David B. Merkley
President and Chief Executive Offi cer       Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Offi cer 

Toronto, Ontario
February 28, 2006

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
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We have audited the consolidated statements of fi nancial position of Sears Canada Inc. as at December 31, 2005 
and January 1, 2005 and the consolidated statements of earnings, retained earnings and cash fl ows for each of the 
52 weeks then ended. These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position 
of the Company as at December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash fl ows 
for each of the 52 weeks then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Deloitte & Touche LLP Toronto, Ontario
Chartered Accountants February 15, 2006

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
SEARS CANADA INC.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

      As at  As at
(in millions)   December 31, 2005  January 1, 2005

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and short-term investments    $ 775.1 $ 78.0
Accounts receivable (Notes 3 and 4)     54.3  1,526.3
Income taxes recoverable     7.9  0.3
Inventories     788.2  789.8
Prepaid expenses and other assets     128.3  132.4
Current portion of future income tax assets (Note 5)     130.3  98.9

      1,884.1  2,625.7

Investments and other assets (Note 6)     –  82.3
Capital assets (Note 7)     980.9  1,065.8
Deferred charges (Note 8)     243.8   270.4
Future income tax assets (Note 5)     54.1  82.4
Other long-term assets      35.7  135.8

     $ 3,198.6 $ 4,262.4

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable    $ 696.6 $ 735.2
Accrued liabilities     430.1  434.7
Income and other taxes payable     322.5  101.9
Principal payments on long-term obligations due within one year (Note 10)    216.1  21.3
Future income tax liabilities     –  14.4

      1,665.3  1,307.5

Long-term obligations (Note 10)     533.2  734.6
Accrued benefi t liability (Note 9)     188.3  180.5
Other long-term liabilities     166.5  162.4

      2,553.3  2,385.0

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock (Note 11)     13.7  459.5
Retained earnings     631.6  1,417.9

      645.3  1,877.4

     $ 3,198.6 $ 4,262.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the 52 week periods ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 (fi scal 2004)
(in millions, except per share amounts)     2005  2004

Total Revenues    $ 6,237.6  $ 6,230.5

Cost of merchandise sold, operating, administrative and selling expenses    5,814.6  5,816.9
Depreciation and amortization     164.2  166.0
Interest expense, net     48.9  55.0
Unusual items – (gain) expense (Note 13)     (747.7)  3.2

Earnings before income taxes      957.6  189.4

Income taxes (Note 5)
 Current     202.5  41.3
 Future     (15.7)  19.4

      186.8  60.7

Net earnings    $ 770.8 $ 128.7

Earnings per share (Note 20)    $ 7.22 $ 1.21
Diluted earnings per share (Note 20)    $ 7.19 $ 1.20

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS

For the 52 week periods ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 (fi scal 2004)
(in millions)     2005  2004

Opening Balance    $ 1,417.9 $ 1,321.7

Net earnings     770.8   128.7
Dividends declared     (1,557.1)   (25.6)
Repurchase of shares (Note 11)     –   (6.9)

Closing Balance    $ 631.6 $ 1,417.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the 52 week periods ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 (fi scal 2004)
(in millions)     2005  2004

Cash fl ow generated from (used for) operations
 Net earnings    $ 770.8 $ 128.7
 Non-cash items included in net earnings, principally depreciation, pension expense, 
  future income taxes and gain on sale of Credit and Financial Services operations    (623.6)  217.4
 Changes in non-cash working capital related to operations (Note 14)    139.5  11.4
 Other, principally pension contributions and changes to long-term assets and liabilities    (16.0)  (18.9)

      270.7  338.6

Cash fl ow generated from (used for) investment activities
 Purchases of capital assets     (86.0)  (155.7)
 Proceeds from sale of capital assets     26.7  41.9
 Charge account receivables     43.2  (164.7)
 Proceeds on sale of Credit and Financial Services operations, net of cash sold and transaction costs (Note 2)    2,446.4  –
 Deferred charges     (2.8)  (4.2)
 Acquisition, net of cash acquired (Note 2)     (23.2)  –
 Investments and other assets (Note 6)     38.4  (7.0)

      2,442.7  (289.7)

Cash fl ow generated from (used for) fi nancing activities
 Repayment of long-term obligations     (6.5)  (18.6)
 Net proceeds from issuance of capital stock (share repurchase)    17.7  (9.3)
 Return of capital (Note 11)     (470.4)  –
 Dividends paid     (1,557.1)  (25.6)

      (2,016.3)  (53.5)

Increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments    697.1  (4.6)
Cash and short-term investments at beginning of period    78.0  82.6

Cash and short-term investments at end of period    $ 775.1 $ 78.0 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated fi nancial statements include the accounts of Sears Canada Inc. and its subsidiaries together with 
its proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of real estate joint ventures (the “Company”).

Fiscal Year

The fi scal year of the Company consists of a 52 or 53-week period ending on the Saturday closest to December 31. 
The fi scal years for the consolidated fi nancial statements presented for 2005 and 2004 are the 52-week periods 
ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005.

Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements, in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. Estimates are used when accounting for items such as inventory valuation provisions, 
estimated returns and allowances, estimated vendor rebates, self-insurance reserves, associate benefi t obligations, 
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, warranty-related provisions, loyalty program reserves and others.

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Cash and short-term investments include all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less 
at the date of purchase.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value less normal profi t margin. Cost is determined 
using the average cost method, based on individual items. The Company classifi es rebates and other consideration 
received from a vendor as a reduction to the cost of inventory unless the rebate clearly relates to the reimbursement 
of a specifi c expense.

Prepaid Catalogue Production Expense

Catalogue production costs are deferred and amortized over the life of each catalogue on the basis of the estimated 
sales from that catalogue. Costs incurred to advertise the catalogue are expensed consistent with the Company’s 
advertising expense policy. Prepaid catalogue production expenses are included in ‘Prepaid expenses and other 
assets’ on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs for newspaper, television, radio and other media advertising are expensed the fi rst time the 
advertising occurs.

Transfer of Receivables

Effective July 1, 2001, the Company adopted, on a prospective basis, Accounting Guideline – 12 Transfers of 
Receivables, issued by The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (the “CICA”). For balances transferred 
prior to July 1, 2001, the Company followed the previous accounting guidance. For balances transferred between 
July 1, 2001 and the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations in November 2005 (Note 2), 
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the Company recognized gains or losses on transfers of receivables that qualifi ed as sales and recognized certain 
fi nancial components that were created as a result of such sales, which consisted primarily of the retained interest in 
the form of a cash reserve account and the retained rights to future excess yield from the transferred receivables 
(interest-only strip). A gain or loss on sale of the receivables depended in part on the previous carrying amount of 
the receivables involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests based on their 
relative fair value at the date of transfer. Retained interests were initially recorded at fair value, which was estimated 
based upon the present value of the expected future cash fl ows and discount rates. Any subsequent decline in the 
value of the retained interest, other than a temporary decline, was recorded as a reduction to income.

Deferred Receivables

Prior to the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations, deferred receivables represented credit 
sales not yet billed to customers’ accounts. Service charges were not accrued on these accounts over the deferral 
period, which generally ranged from 6 to 24 months.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization provisions are generally computed using the 
straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of 2 to 13 years for equipment and fi xtures, and 10 to 40 years 
for buildings and improvements.

The Company’s proportionate share of the cost of buildings held in joint ventures is generally depreciated using 
the straight-line method over 10 to 40 years.

The Company capitalizes interest charges for major construction projects and depreciates these charges over 
the life of the related assets.

The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that a potential impairment has occurred. Impairment has occurred if the projected undiscounted cash 
fl ows resulting from the use and eventual disposition of the assets are less than the carrying value of the assets. 
When impairment has occurred, a write-down is recorded if the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its 
fair value. If market valuations are not available, fair value is measured based on the projected discounted cash 
fl ow from the asset or group of assets.

The Company recognizes legal obligations associated with the retirement of capital assets, when those obligations 
result from the acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the asset, at the time the asset is 
purchased or at the time the obligation becomes legally mandated.

Associate Future Benefi ts

The Company maintains a defi ned benefi t, fi nal average registered pension plan which covers substantially all of 
its regular full-time associates as well as some of its part-time associates. The plan provides pensions based on 
length of service and fi nal average earnings. In addition to a registered retirement savings plan, the pension plan 
includes a non-registered supplemental savings arrangement. The non-registered portion of the plan is maintained 
to enable certain associates to continue saving for retirement in addition to the registered limit as prescribed by the 
Canada Revenue Agency. The Company also maintains a defi ned benefi t non-pension post retirement plan which 
provides life insurance, medical and dental benefi ts to eligible retired associates through a funded health and welfare 
trust (“other benefi ts plan”). The Company has adopted the following accounting policies:
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• The cost of pensions and other retirement benefi ts earned by associates is actuarially determined using 
the projected benefi t method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan 
investment performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of associates, expected health care costs and 
other actuarial factors.

• For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. 
The fair value of plan assets is market value.

• Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining 
service period of associates active at the date of amendment.

• Actuarial gains/losses arise from the difference between the actual long-term rate of return on plan assets for 
a period and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for that period or from changes in actuarial 
assumptions used to determine the accrued benefi t obligation. The excess of the net actuarial gain/loss over 10% 
of the greater of the accrued benefi t obligation and the fair value of plan assets is amortized over the average 
remaining service period of active associates. The average remaining service period of the active associates 
covered by the pension plan is 8 years. The average remaining service period of the active associates covered 
by the other retirement benefi ts plan is 13 years.

• When the restructuring of a benefi t plan gives rise to both a curtailment and a settlement of obligations, the 
curtailment is accounted for prior to the settlement.

Deferred Charges

The cumulative excess of contributions to the Company’s pension plan over the amounts expensed is included 
in deferred charges.

Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized using the straight-line method to the due dates of the respective 
debt issues.

Other costs are deferred and amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining life of the related asset.

Foreign Currency Translation

Obligations payable in U.S. dollars are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date or at 
the rates fi xed by forward exchange contracts.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate in effect on the date of 
the transaction.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted earnings per share is determined using the treasury stock method, the application of which increases the 
number of shares used in the calculation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from merchandise sales and services are net of estimated returns and allowances, exclude sales taxes 
and are recorded upon delivery to the customer. Revenues relating to the travel business and licensed department 
businesses are recorded in revenues net of cost of sales.
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The Company sells extended service contracts with terms of coverage generally between 12 and 60 months. 
Revenues from the sale of each contract are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the related contract.

Income from JPMorgan Chase & Co. which is based on a percentage of sales charged on the Sears Card or Sears 
MasterCard and a percentage of the sales of fi nancial products is included in revenue when the sale occurs. 
Payments from JPMorgan Chase & Co. to reimburse the Company for the cost to generate new accounts and 
process account payments are recorded as an offset to operating, administrative, and selling expenses when the 
transaction occurs.

Prior to the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations to JPMorgan Chase & Co. (Note 2), 
fi nance charge revenues were recorded on an accrual basis, including unbilled fi nance charges based on actual 
fi nance charges on the most recent billing cycles.

Joint venture revenues are recorded based on monthly rentals.

Changes in Accounting Policies

a) Accounting for Consideration From a Vendor 
 In January 2005, the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(“CICA”) amended EIC-144 “Accounting by a Customer for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor”. 
The Company adopted this new guidance retroactively as at January 2, 2005. The guidance distinguishes between 
discretionary rebates and binding agreements. EIC-144 requires companies to recognize discretionary rebates 
when paid by the vendor or when the vendor becomes obligated to pay. For binding agreements, the rebates should 
be recognized as a reduction of purchases for the period, provided the rebate is probable and reasonably estimable. 

 This new guidance impacts the timing of recognition of the rebates between the quarters, but does not impact 
the annual fi nancial statements.

b) Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities and Implicit Variable Interests
 Effective January 2, 2005 and October 17, 2005 the Company adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 15 

(“AcG-15”) “Variable Interest Entities” (“VIE”) and EIC-157 “Implicit Variable Interests”, respectively. 
A VIE is defi ned as any type of legal entity that is not economically controlled by traditional voting equity, but 
rather by contractual or other fi nancial arrangements. AcG-15 requires consolidation of a VIE by the party that 
will absorb the majority of expected losses or expected residual returns, or both. An implicit variable interest is 
an implied fi nancial interest in an entity that changes with changes in the fair value of that entity’s net assets. 
An implicit variable interest is the same as an explicit variable interest except that it involves the absorbing and/or 
receiving of variability indirectly rather than directly from the entity. EIC-157 requires a reporting enterprise to 
consider whether it holds an implicit variable interest in a VIE or potential VIE in order to determine if it is the 
party that will absorb the majority of expected losses or expected residual returns, or both.

 Prior to the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations, certain fi nancing and related 
transactions undertaken by the Company were with securitized trusts which may have met the defi nition of a 
VIE. Upon adoption of AcG-15, the Company evaluated its involvement with the trusts and determined that the 
trusts met the requirements for Qualifying Special-Purpose Entities (“QSPEs”) and are therefore exempt from 
consolidation. During the 52-week period ended December 31, 2005 the Company either wound up or transferred 
to JPMorgan Chase & Co. all of the trusts utilized for securitization (Note 2).

 The Company has also evaluated the impact of this guidance on other legal structures and economic interests 
and has determined that the adoption of AcG-15 and EIC-157 has had no material impact on the Company’s 
fi nancial statements.
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c) Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 
 Effective January 2, 2005, the Company adopted the new guidance of the CICA regarding whether an 

arrangement contains a lease. EIC-150 “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease” requires 
companies to analyze arrangements that do not take the legal form of a lease but convey a right to use a tangible 
asset. Such arrangements may include, but are not limited to, outsourcing arrangements and contracts in which 
a company must make a payment regardless of whether it takes delivery of a contracted product or service. 
An assessment as to whether an arrangement contains a lease is made at the inception of the arrangement. 
Reassessments are also undertaken when there is a change in the contractual terms, a renewal or extension 
is exercised, or there are other specifi ed changes. The adoption of this guidance has had no material impact 
on the Company’s fi nancial statements.

Comparative Figures

Certain of last year’s fi gures have been reclassifi ed to conform to the current year’s presentation.

2. Acquisitions and Disposals

On November 15, 2005, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of its 
Credit and Financial Services operations, including its Sears Card and Sears MasterCard credit portfolio, to 
JPMorgan Chase & Co. for proceeds of $2,446.4 million, net of cash sold and transaction costs. The Company’s 
pre-tax gain on sale of $811.0 million is included in unusual items for the year ended December 31, 2005 
(Note 13). Included in income taxes for the year is a charge of $133.8 million related to this transaction. The 
calculation of proceeds and allocation of net assets are preliminary pending resolution of closing adjustments, 
which are expected to be fi nalized by the end of the fi rst quarter of 2006.

The table below summarizes the assets and liabilities of the operations sold. The majority of those assets and 
liabilities were previously included in the Company’s Credit segment (Note 17). The Company’s consolidated 
fi nancial statements include the results of the Credit and Financial Services operations up to November 14, 2005.

(in millions)

Cash $  15.7
Accounts receivable, net of $982.1 million co-ownership held by third parties   1,542.2
Investments   44.2
Other long-term assets   49.8
Other assets   6.9
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (7.7)

Net assets sold $  1,651.1

On April 29, 2005, the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of Cantrex Group Inc. (“Cantrex”), 
a Canadian buying group representing independent retailers of furniture, appliances, electronics, photography, 
equipment and fl oor coverings. The purchase price, fi nanced by cash, was $23.2 million, net of cash acquired of 
$7.2 million, and was allocated to the net assets acquired, principally inventory. Goodwill of $2.5 million was 
recorded on the transaction and is included in Deferred charges on the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position. The results of Cantrex’s operations, including its wholly-owned subsidiary Corbeil Electrique Inc., 
a Montreal based retailer of major appliances with locations primarily in Quebec, have been included in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements of the Company since the date of acquisition.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method and included in the Company’s Merchandising 
segment (Note 17). The purchase price and net asset allocations are preliminary pending resolution of closing 
adjustments, which are expected to be fi nalized by the end of the fi rst quarter of 2006.
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3. Accounts Receivable

      As at  As at
(in millions)    December 31, 2005 January 1, 2005

Customer accounts receivable – current    $ – $ 2,050.3
Customer accounts receivable – deferred     –  791.7

Managed accounts     –  2,842.0
Less: co-ownership held by third parties (Note 4)     –  (1,248.5)

Co-ownership retained by the Company     –  1,593.5
Less: long-term portion of deferred customer
 accounts receivable     –  (98.6)
Interest-only strip receivable     –  30.2
Miscellaneous receivables     54.3  1.2

Total    $ 54.3 $ 1,526.3

As discussed in Note 2, during the fourth quarter the Company sold substantially all of the assets and liabilities 
of its Credit and Financial Services operations, including its accounts receivable, interest-only strip and certain 
miscellaneous receivables.

Prior to the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005 the total credit losses 
on managed accounts, net of recoveries, recognized in 2005 were $81.3 million (2004 – $90.3 million).

Miscellaneous receivables includes the credit related to the reduction in revenue, for sales transacted for which 
the merchandise has yet to be delivered, and receivables from JPMorgan Chase & Co. related to the sale of the 
Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations (Note 2).

4. Transfer of Receivables 

Prior to the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations (Note 2), securitization was a fi nancial 
vehicle which provided the Company with access to funds at a relatively low cost. The Company sold undivided 
co-ownership interests in its portfolio of current and deferred charge accounts receivable to two separate trusts and 
retained the right to receive the income generated by the undivided co-ownership interests sold to the trusts in excess 
of the trusts’ stipulated share of service charge revenues. 

The Company recognized a pre-tax gain in revenue of $2.0 million for the 52-week period ended December 31, 2005 
(2004 – $5.8 million), related to the timing of recognition of income on the sale of charge accounts receivable. 

The table below summarizes certain cash fl ows related to the transfer of receivables prior to the sale of the 
Credit and Financial Services operations:

(in millions)     2005  2004

Proceeds from new securitizations    $ 226.1 $ 663.5
Proceeds from collections reinvested     1,430.3  1,133.3
Other cash fl ows relating to retained interests     0.5  9.8
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5. Future Income Taxes

The tax effects of the signifi cant components of temporary differences giving rise to the Company’s net future 
income tax assets are as follows:

(in millions)    2005     2004

     Current  Long-Term  Current  Long-Term

Items not deducted for tax purposes   $ 69.9 $ 13.2 $ 69.0 $ 13.2
Amounts related to tax losses carried forward    58.9  23.7  28.3  22.3
Depreciable capital assets    –  (5.6)  (0.5)  41.7
Effect from sale of receivables    –  –  (13.6)  –
Deferred charges    –  17.9  1.3  7.8
Other    1.5  0.5  –  (5.2)

Total   $ 130.3 $ 49.7 $ 84.5 $ 79.8

The long-term portion of future income tax liabilities in the amount of $4.4 million (2004 – $2.6 million), 
is included in Other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

The average combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate, excluding Large Corporations Tax, 
applicable to the Company was 35.9% for 2005 (2004 - 33.5%).

A reconciliation of income taxes at the average statutory tax rate to the actual income taxes is as follows: 

(in millions)     2005  2004

Earnings before income taxes     $ 957.6 $ 189.4

Income taxes at average statutory tax rate     344.2  63.3
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
 Non-taxable portion of capital gains     (154.3)  (2.4)
 Non-deductible items     4.9  1.9
Large Corporations Tax     2.9  5.2

     $ 197.7 $ 68.0

Effective tax rate before the following adjustments     20.6%  35.9%

 Tax adjustment on sale of Credit and Financial Services operations    (8.6)  –
 Prior year recovery     (2.3)  (7.3)

Income taxes    $ 186.8 $ 60.7

The Company’s total net cash payments for income taxes in 2005 were $30.5 million (2004 – $17.5 million).
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6. Investments and Other Assets

(in millions)     2005  2004

Unsecured debentures    $ – $ 37.8
Subordinated loans     –  3.0 
Other investments     –  2.8
Retained interest in transferred receivables – cash reserve account    –  38.7

Total    $ – $ 82.3

During 2005, the Company’s investments were either redeemed as a result of the winding up of securitization trust 
SCRT – 1992 or sold to JPMorgan Chase & Co. (Note 2). 

7. Capital Assets

(in millions)     2005  2004

Land    $ 68.9 $ 70.2
Buildings and improvements     1,039.1  1,010.2
– held by joint ventures     162.5  167.6
Equipment and fi xtures     1,368.7  1,353.7

Gross capital assets     2,639.2  2,601.7

Accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements     575.9  517.8
– held by joint ventures     49.2  44.7
Equipment and fi xtures     1,033.2  973.4

Total accumulated depreciation     1,658.3  1,535.9

Capital assets    $ 980.9 $ 1,065.8

The above amounts include $27.2 million in 2005 (2004 – $27.2 million) of assets under capital lease, and 
accumulated amortization of $21.5 million in 2005 (2004 – $20.1 million) related thereto.

As at December 31, 2005, gross capital assets include $0.1 million of construction-in-progress costs not being 
amortized (2004 – $8.5 million).

8. Deferred Charges 

(in millions)     2005  2004

Excess of contributions to associate future benefi ts over amounts expensed (Note 9)   $ 221.5  $ 244.5
Tenant allowances for proportionate interests in joint ventures    6.5   6.7
Debt issuance and securitization set up costs      1.1   4.6
Other deferred charges     14.7  14.6

Total deferred charges    $ 243.8  $ 270.4

As part of the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations in November 2005, the Company’s 
deferred securitization set up costs were sold to JPMorgan Chase & Co. (Note 2). 
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9. Associate Future Benefi ts 

A description of the Company’s pension plan and other benefi ts plan and associated Accounting Policies are outlined 
in Note 1 Summary of Accounting Policies. 

The Company measures its accrued benefi t obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as 
at December 31st of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plan for funding purposes was on 
December 31, 2003. The next valuation is required on December 31, 2006. The most recent actuarial valuation of 
the health and welfare trust for purposes of funding the other benefi ts plan was on December 31, 2004. A valuation 
of the health and welfare trust is required annually. 

Total cash payments for associate future benefi ts for the fi scal year ended December 31, 2005, consisting of 
cash contributed by the Company to both its pension plan and non-pension other benefi ts plan, was $19.6 million 
(2004 – $18.2 million).

Information about the Company’s defi ned benefi t plans as at December 31, 2005, and January 1, 2005 
(fi scal 2004), in aggregate, is as follows:

      2005        2004

   Sears  Non-      Sears  Non-
   Registered Registered   Other   Registered  Registered  Other
   Retirement  Pension  Benefi ts    Retirement  Pension  Benefi ts
(in millions)  Plan  Plan

1
  Plan

1
  Total  Plan  Plan  Plan  Total

Defi ned benefi t plan assets
Fair value at beginning of year $ 1,349.7 $ – $ 90.3 $ 1,440.0  $ 1,280.5 $ – $ 80.1 $ 1,360.6
Actual return on plan assets  134.4  –  9.0  143.4  124.7  –  8.6  133.3
Employer contributions  –  1.9  17.7  19.6  –  2.0  16.2  18.2
Associate contributions  17.8  –  –  17.8  18.6  –  –  18.6
Benefi ts paid

2
  (87.4)  (1.9)  (15.3)  (104.6)  (74.1)  (2.0)  (14.6)  (90.7)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  1,414.5  –  101.7  1,516.2  1,349.7  –  90.3  1,440.0

Defi ned benefi t plan obligations
Accrued benefi t obligations at beginning of year

3
 $ 1,284.3 $ 35.4 $ 331.8 $ 1,651.5 $ 1,177.3 $ 34.5 $ 295.5 $ 1,507.3

Total current service cost  54.6  0.6  6.7  61.9  52.0  0.6  5.6  58.2
Interest cost  73.3  2.0  19.8  95.1  70.3  2.0  18.4  90.7
Benefi ts paid  (87.4)  (1.9)  (15.3)  (104.6)  (74.1)  (2.0)  (14.6)  (90.7)
Actuarial losses  115.7  3.1  62.9  181.7  58.8  0.3  26.9  86.0

Accrued benefi t obligation at end of year $ 1,440.5 $ 39.2 $ 405.9 $ 1,885.6 $ 1,284.3 $ 35.4 $ 331.8 $ 1,651.5

Funded status of plan – surplus (defi cit) $ (26.0)  (39.2)  (304.2)  (369.4)  65.4  (35.4)  (241.5)  (211.5)
Unamortized net actuarial loss  247.5  6.1  149.0  402.6  179.1  3.1  93.3  275.5 

Accrued benefi t asset (liability) at end of year $ 221.5 $ (33.1) $ (155.2) $ 33.2 $ 244.5 $ (32.3) $ (148.2) $ 64.0

The accrued benefi t asset (liability) is included in the Company’s statements of fi nancial position as follows:

Deferred charges (Note 8) $ 221.5 $ – $ – $ 221.5 $ 244.5 $ – $ – $ 244.5
Accrued benefi t liability  –  (33.1)  (155.2)  (188.3)  –  (32.3)  (148.2)  (180.5)

Accrued benefi t asset (liability) at end of year $ 221.5 $ (33.1) $ (155.2) $ 33.2 $ 244.5 $ (32.3) $ (148.2) $ 64.0
1 Neither the non-registered pension plan nor the other benefi ts plan are fully funded.
2 Benefi ts paid include amounts paid from funded assets. Other benefi ts are paid directly by the Company.
3 Accrued benefi t obligation represents the actuarial present value of benefi ts attributed to associate service rendered to a particular date.
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The net defi ned benefi t plan expense is as follows:

     2005      2004

   Sears  Non-    Sears  Non-
   Registered  Registered  Other  Registered  Registered  Other
   Retirement  Pension  Benefi ts  Retirement  Pension  Benefi ts
(in millions)  Plan  Plan  Plan  Plan  Plan  Plan

Current service cost, net of associate contributions $ 36.8 $ 0.6 $ 6.7 $ 33.4 $ 0.6 $ 5.6
Interest cost  73.3  2.0  19.8  70.3  2.0  18.4
Actual return on plan assets  (134.4)  –  (9.0)  (124.7)  –  (8.6)
Actuarial loss  115.7  3.1  62.9  58.8  0.3  26.9

Benefi t plan expense, before adjustments below $ 91.4 $ 5.7 $ 80.4 $ 37.8 $ 2.9 $ 42.3

Difference between –
 Actual return on plan assets and expected return  41.9  –  2.7    36.7    –    3.5 
 Actuarial loss arising in the year and actuarial (gain) loss amortized  (110.3)  (3.1)  (58.3)   (54.4)   (0.3)   (23.6)

Net defi ned benefi t plan expense recognized $ 23.0 $ 2.6 $ 24.8   $ 20.1   $ 2.6   $ 22.2

The signifi cant actuarial assumptions are as follows (weighted average assumptions):

     2005      2004

   Sears  Non-    Sears  Non-
   Registered  Registered  Other  Registered  Registered  Other
   Retirement  Pension  Benefi ts  Retirement  Pension  Benefi ts
   Plan  Plan  Plan  Plan  Plan  Plan

Discount rate used in calculation of:
Accrued benefi t obligation  5.00%  5.00%  5.00%  5.75%  5.75%  6.00%
Benefi t plan expense  5.75%  5.75%  6.00%  6.00%  6.00%  6.25%

Rate of Compensation increase used in calculation of:
Accrued benefi t obligation  4.00%  4.00%  4.00%  4.25%  4.25%  4.25%
Benefi t plan expense  4.25%  4.25%  4.25%  4.00%  4.00%  4.00%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets used in calculation of:
Benefi t plan expense  7.00%  7.00%  7.00%  7.00%  7.00%  7.00%

Health Care cost trend rates:
Used in calculation of accrued benefi t obligation      8.30%      7.70%
Used in calculation of benefi t plan expense      7.70%      8.40%
Cost trend rate declines to      4.40%      4.30%
Year that the rate reaches the rate at which it is assumed to remain constant      2015      2010

Sensitivity analysis for future health care costs (in millions):     1%   1%     1%   1% 
     Increase  Decrease    Increase  Decrease

Total of service and interest cost   $ 2.9  ($3.0)   $ 2.4  ($3.0)
Accrued benefi t obligation   $ 39.3  ($35.0)    $ 29.1  ($31.4)
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10. Long-term Obligations

(in millions)     2005  2004

Secured debentures:
 6.55% due November 5, 2007     $ 125.0 $ 125.0
Secured medium term notes:
 7.45% due May 10, 2010      200.0  200.0
 7.05% due September 20, 2010      100.0  100.0
 6.75% due March 15, 2006     200.0  200.0
Proportionate share of long-term debt of joint ventures with 
 a weighted average interest rate of 9.4% due 2006 to 2016     113.8  118.2
Capital lease obligations:
 interest rates from 7% to 11%      10.5  12.7

      749.3  755.9
Less: principal payments due within one year included in current liabilties    216.1  21.3

Total long-term obligations     $ 533.2  $ 734.6

Late in the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company negotiated a credit facility for a secured $200.0 million three-year 
revolver and a secured U.S. $260.0 million seven-year term loan. The currency term loan availability expires on 
March 15, 2006 if it is not drawn. As at December 31, 2005, there were no borrowings from the credit facility or 
the term loan other than letters of credit issued under the Company’s offshore merchandise purchasing program of 
$67.2 million. There are fi nancial and non-fi nancial covenants included in the credit facility agreement which impact 
the Company’s ability to draw funds and determine the cost of those funds. The Company was in compliance with all 
applicable covenants at December 31, 2005.

As a result of granting security to a syndicate of lenders under the revolving credit facility and term loan on 
December 22, 2005, the Company also granted security rateably to the outstanding debenture and medium 
term note holders. Substantially all of the tangible and intangible assets of the Company are pledged as security 
for the new credit facility, the outstanding debentures and the medium-term notes. The term loan will be used to 
repay the secured medium term notes of $200.0 million due March 15, 2006.

The Company’s proportionate share of the long-term debt of joint ventures is secured by the shopping malls 
owned by the joint ventures. The Company’s total principal payments due within one year include $13.7 million 
(2004 – $19.1 million), of the Company’s proportionate share of the current debt obligations of joint ventures.

Interest on long-term debt in 2005, including the Company’s proportionate share of interest on long-term debt 
of joint ventures, amounted to $58.4 million (2004 – $59.3 million).

The Company’s total net cash payments for interest in 2005 were $46.9 million (2004 – $52.2 million).
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Principal Payments

For fi scal years subsequent to the fi scal year ended December 31, 2005, principal payments required on the 
Company’s total long-term obligations are as follows:

(in millions)

2006      $ 216.1
2007       138.8
2008       7.0
2009       18.9
2010       333.2
Subsequent years       35.3

Total debt outstanding       $ 749.3

11. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting, 
redeemable and retractable Class 1 Preferred Shares in one or more series. As at December 31, 2005, the only 
shares outstanding were the common shares of the Company. Changes in the number of outstanding common shares 
and their stated values are as follows: 

     2005   2004

     Number  Stated Value  Number  Stated Value
     of Shares  (millions)  of Shares  (millions)

Beginning balance    106,269,994 $ 459.5  106,798,464 $ 458.8
Issued pursuant to Special Incentive Share Awards    96,669  –  33,438  –
Issued pursuant to Deferred Share Units    104,806  –  –  –
Stock-based compensation    –  6.9  –  3.1
Issued pursuant to stock options    931,338  17.7  11,393  0.1
Return of capital    –  (470.4)  –  –
Repurchase of shares    –  –  (573,301)  (2.5)

Ending balance    107,402,807 $ 13.7  106,269,994 $ 459.5

Following the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations, on December 16, 2005 the Company made 
payments of $470.4 million and $1,531.5 million to the shareholders of record as at December 13, 2005, by 
way of a reduction of the stated capital maintained in respect of common shares, and an extraordinary cash 
dividend, respectively.

On March 4, 2005, the Company renewed its Normal Course Issuer Bid. Under the renewed Normal Course 
Issuer Bid, the Company may purchase for cancellation up to 5% of its issued and outstanding common shares, 
representing up to 5.3 million common shares. The purchases were eligible to commence on March 4, 2005 and 
must terminate by March 3, 2006, pursuant to the Notice of Intention fi led with the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(“TSX”). The price that the Company will pay for any such common shares will be the open market price at the 
time of acquisition.

By purchasing common shares under its Normal Course Issuer Bid, the Company intends to offset the dilutive effect 
of common shares issued as equity-based compensation to associates and directors. The Company may purchase 
additional common shares up to the maximum stated if, in the opinion of management, the additional purchases 
can be made on terms that enhance the value of the remaining common shares.
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The Company has renewed its agreement with Sears, Roebuck and Co. (“Sears Roebuck”) pursuant to which 
Sears Roebuck may elect to sell to the Company up to the number of common shares suffi cient to ensure that 
Sears Roebucks’ percentage interest in the Company does not increase as a result of the Company’s purchases 
pursuant to the Normal Course Issuer Bid. The price for such common share purchases from Sears Roebuck 
will be the weighted average price at which the Company bought back shares during the relevant quarter. 
Sears Roebuck is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sears Holdings Corporation (“Sears Holdings”).

During 2005 the Company did not purchase any shares for cancellation under its Normal Course Issuer bid. 
In 2004, the Company purchased 573,301 (311,501 from Sears Roebuck) common shares at a weighted 
average price of $16.22.

During the year, stock-based compensation expense of $4.8 million was recorded, and $17.7 million of cash 
was received, in relation to shares issued pursuant to the exercise of stock options. In addition, $2.1 million of 
stock-based compensation expense was recorded in relation to the vesting of Special Incentive Shares (Note 12).

12. Stock-based Compensation

The Company has three stock-based compensation plans: the Employees Stock Plan, the Stock Option Plan for 
Directors and the Directors’ Share Purchase Plan. The Employees Stock Plan provides for the granting of options 
and Special Incentive Shares and Options, which generally vest over three years and are exercisable within 10 years 
from the grant date. Special Incentive Shares and Options are awarded to offi cers and certain employees of the 
Company on a conditional basis, subject to achievement of specifi ed performance criteria and/or specifi ed vesting 
periods. The Stock Option Plan for Directors provides for the granting of stock options to directors who are not 
employees of the Company or Sears Holdings. Options granted under the Stock Option Plan for Directors generally 
vest over three years and are exercisable within 10 years from the grant date. The Directors’ Share Purchase Plan 
provides for the granting of common shares to directors as part of their annual remuneration for services rendered 
on the Board of Directors.

Under the Employees Stock Plan, employees have the right to elect to take their Special Incentive Shares, upon 
vesting, either on a current or deferred basis or a combination of both. Special Incentive Shares taken on a current 
basis may be subject to certain restrictions on disposition as the Human Resources and Compensation Committee to 
the Board of Directors (“HRCC”) may determine. Special Incentive Shares taken on a deferred basis are credited to 
a Deferred Share Unit (“DSUs”) account. DSUs can only be redeemed for common shares of the Company, subject 
to certain restrictions, upon termination of employment from the Company.

Under the Directors’ Share Purchase Plan, directors are granted a number of common shares, as determined 
annually by the Board of Directors, to be taken either on a current basis or as DSUs, or a combination of both. 
Subject to certain exceptions, directors are required to hold their shares taken on a current basis until termination 
of their service to the Board of Directors. The Directors’ Share Purchase Plan also provides directors with the 
option to receive all or a portion of their annual cash retainer in the form of DSUs. Directors’ DSUs are redeemed 
for either common shares purchased by the Company on the TSX, or the cash equivalent, at the election of the 
directors, upon termination of service to the Board of Directors.

The Employees Stock Plan was amended in 1998 to permit the issuance of tandem awards. The Stock Option Plan 
for Directors, which was established in 1998, also permits the issuance of tandem awards. Tandem awards provide 
optionholders with the choice of exercising their awards for either an option to purchase common shares of the 
Company or a Share Appreciation Right (“SARs”). The exercise price of an option is determined using the weighted 
average price at which the Company’s shares traded on the TSX on the fi ve trading days preceding the grant date. 
SARs allow optionholders to receive cash payments equal to the amount by which the weighted average market price 
of the shares on the fi ve trading days preceding the date of exercise of the SARs exceeds the exercise price of the 
corresponding options. 
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On September 16, 2005, the HRCC passed a resolution to permit all outstanding options granted under the 
Employee Stock Plan, which were not tandem awards, to include SARs. On October 24, 2005, the HRCC approved, 
among other things, the acceleration of vesting of unvested stock options and Special Incentive Shares granted in 
2003 and 2004 under the Employees Stock Plan. The accelerated vesting occurred immediately following the closing 
of the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations on November 15, 2005.

Effective the beginning of 2005, the Company has discontinued the granting of options and Special Incentive Shares 
and Options under the Employees Stock Plan. No stock options have been granted under the Stock Option Plan for 
Directors since the beginning of 2004.

Total compensation expense related to tandem awards was $22.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 
(2004 – less than $0.1 million). For tandem awards, at the end of each fi scal period the Company records a liability 
equal to the amount by which the market price of its shares exceeds the exercise price of the vested award. Stock 
compensation expense is recorded to adjust this liability for changes in the number of vested tandem awards, 
changes in the market price of the Company’s shares and for awards exercised in the period.

Cash payments for stock appreciation rights exercised during the year ended December 31, 2005 were $17.9 million. 

Awards of Special Incentive Shares are measured at fair value on grant date and expensed over the vesting period. 
A compensation cost of $2.1 million was recognized as an expense and credited to share capital for the year ended 
December 31, 2005 (2004 – $3.1 million). 

Of the $25.0 million total stock-based compensation expense recorded in 2005, $16.1 million was reported as 
an unusual item (Note 13). 

Details of stock option transactions during the years ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 are 
presented below:

     Number of Shares

    Employees Stock Plan

       Special Stock Option  Weighted
       Incentive  Plan For  Average
     Options

5
  Options  Directors  Exercise Price

Outstanding at January 3, 2004     2,546,136  412,500  38,250 $ 22.50
Granted at $16.44     50,000  –  –  16.44
Granted at $17.59     524,750  –  –  17.59
Granted at $17.64    47,300  –  –  17.64
Exercised    (11,393)  –  –  8.63
Cancelled/forfeited    (35,490)  –  –  17.59

Outstanding at January 1, 2005    3,121,303  412,500  38,250 $ 21.72
Exercised    (2,263,961)  (200,000)  (30,750)  19.41
Cancelled/forfeited    (331,734)  (212,500)  (2,500)  24.12

Outstanding at December 31, 2005    525,608  –  5,000 $ 30.11

Exercisable as at December 31, 2005
 – Number of shares    525,608  –  3,000
 – Weighted average exercise price   $ 30.14 $ – $ 36.23
5 Excluding Special Incentive Options.
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The following stock options were outstanding as at December 31, 2005:

       Weighted  Weighted    Weighted
     Options  Average  Average  Exerciseable  Average
   Exercise   Outstanding  Remaining  Exercise  Options

7
  Exercise

Plan  Price   (thousands)  Life  Price  (thousands)  Price

Employees Stock Plan
6
 $ 5.58  17.5  0.1 $ 5.58  17.5 $ 5.58

   10.65  18.6  1.1  10.65  18.6  10.65
   19.63  32.4  2.1  19.63  32.4  19.63
   21.19  19.8  3.1  21.19  19.8  21.19
   40.68  283.3  4.1  40.68  283.3  40.68
   21.72  55.6  5.1  21.72  55.6  21.72
   18.37  8.4  6.0  18.37  8.4  18.37
   18.23  29.3  7.0  18.23  29.3  18.23
   17.59  60.7  8.1  17.59  60.7  17.59

Stock Option Plan For Directors  36.23  3.0  4.3  36.23  3.0 $ 36.23
   14.89  2.0  7.3  14.89  –  –

Total    530.6      528.6
6 Excluding Special Incentive Options.
7 In the third quarter of 2005, all outstanding options under the Employees Stock Plan were deemed fully vested.

Details of the transactions under the Special Incentive Shares program during the year ended December 31, 2005 
are presented below:

Employees Stock Plan – Special Incentive Shares     2005  2004

Awarded and unearned at beginning of year     218,330  261,664
Awarded during the year     –  215,000
Total vested and credited to DSU account during the year    (115,993)  (169,208)
Issued as common shares during the year     (96,669)  (33,438)
Forfeited during the year     (5,668)  (55,688)

Awarded and unearned at end of year     –  218,330
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Details of the changes in the DSUs account during the year ended December 31, 2005 are presented below:

Employees Stock Plan – Deferred Share Units     2005  2004

Opening balance January 2, 2005      169,208  –
Issued as common shares during the year     (104,806)  –
Special Incentive Share Awards vested and deferred     115,993  169,208
Forefeited/cancelled     (74,579)  –

Closing balance December 31, 2005     105,816  169,208

13. Unusual Items

The Company recorded pre-tax income of $747.7 million in 2005 (2004 – pre-tax expense of $3.2 million) 
comprised of the following unusual items: 

(in millions)     2005  2004

Sale of Credit and Financial Services operations    $ 811.0 $ –
Sale of real estate joint venture     15.5  16.0
Sale of real estate     4.8  3.1
Stock-based compensation     (16.1)  –
Restructuring activities     (67.3)  (14.8)
Conversion of Eatons stores     –  8.0
Auto centre operations     –  (13.1)
Store closures     (0.2)  (2.4)

Unusual items – gain (expense)    $ 747.7 $ (3.2)

Sale of Credit and Financial Services Operations

On November 15, 2005, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of its Credit 
and Financial Services operations, including its Sears Card and Sears MasterCard credit portfolio, to JPMorgan 
Chase & Co. The Company has recognized a pre-tax gain of $811.0 million on this transaction (Note 2).
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Sale of Real Estate Joint Venture

During the year, a $15.5 million pre-tax gain was recognized on the sale of the Company’s proportionate interest 
in a real estate joint venture (2004 – $16.0 million). 

Sale of Real Estate

During the year, the Company realized a pre-tax gain of $4.8 million on the sale of real estate (2004 – $3.1 million).

Stock-Based Compensation

A pre-tax charge of $16.1 million was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2005 (2004 – Nil). The charge 
relates to stock-based compensation expenses directly attributable to resolutions approved as described in Note 12 
and the announcement that the Company had reached a defi nitive agreement to sell substantially all of the assets 
and liabilities of its Credit and Financial Services operations (Note 2), and the corresponding increase in the 
Company’s share price.

Restructuring Activities 

Pre-tax restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2005 were $67.3 million. The total restructuring 
charge for the year includes a cash charge of $65.4 million and a non-cash charge of $1.9 million (2004 – 
$14.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively). The charges relate to severance payments and other costs resulting 
from the restructuring of certain departments and positions, including executive positions, to better align the 
corporate structure to the Company’s strategic and productivity initiatives. Specifi cally, in 2005 the Company 
announced a workforce reduction of approximately 1,200 individuals. Included in the announcement were those 
associates affected by the consolidation of the buying, marketing and procurement activities of the Montreal 
buying offi ce and various corporate and store administrative positions. Other restructuring expenses include the 
costs of outplacement services and the costs to relocate employees due to the strategic staffi ng announcement. 
The non-cash charge in 2005 includes the write-down of parts supplies and fi xed assets following the decision
to re-design the Company’s Parts and Service business, offset by a reduction in the Company’s provision for 
in-warranty services.

During the year ended January 1, 2005, the Company recorded total restructuring charges of $14.8 million. The 
charges related to severance payments as a result of restructuring certain departments and positions to better align 
the corporate structure to the Company’s strategic and productivity initiatives.

A summary of the changes in the accrued liability related to these activities is outlined below:

   Restructuring
(in millions)   Liability

Accrued liability January 3, 2004 $  –
Cash expense   14.1
Cash payments   (10.6)

Accrued liability January 1, 2005 $  3.5
Cash expense   65.4
Cash payments   (51.7)

Accrued liability December 31, 2005 $  17.2
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Conversion of Eatons Store

A recovery of $8.0 million was recorded during the 52-week period ended January 1, 2005 relating to the reversal 
of the remaining accrued costs associated with the conversion of the Eatons stores to the Sears banner. Conversion 
expenses of $180.0 million were originally recorded in fi scal 2002.

Auto Centre Operations

In 2004, the Company entered into three separate licensing and asset sale agreements with third parties to assume 
the operation of 39 of the Company’s 52 auto centres. Pursuant to these agreements, the licensees purchased the 
inventory and certain equipment related to the auto centre operations, and now occupy and operate the premises. 
The Company has converted three of the other centres into Hardware stores and has closed or converted for use in 
its other merchandise operations the remaining 10 locations.

Total expenses for the 52-week period ended January 1, 2005 were $13.1 million. The charges include severance 
expenses, a non-cash impairment loss on long-lived assets, and other closure-related costs, net of liabilities assumed 
by licensees.

A summary of the changes in the accrued liability related to this transaction is outlined below:

       Severance  Facility Closure  Accrued
(in millions)      Expense  & Other Costs  Liability

Accrued liability January 3, 2004     $ – $ – $ –
Cash expense      9.0  3.6  12.6
Cash payments      (8.4)  (1.7)  (10.1)

Accrued liability January 1, 2005      0.6  1.9  2.5
Cash payments      (0.6)  (1.9)  (2.5)

Accrued liability December 31, 2005     $ – $ – $ –

The remaining facility closure activities were completed in the fourth quarter of 2005.

Store Closures

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company incurred a $0.2 million charge primarily related to the 
closure of a fl oor covering store located in Ontario.

During the year ended January 1, 2005, the Company incurred $2.4 million in lease exit costs and non-cash fi xed 
asset impairment charges relating to the closure of a value centre and an outlet store, both located in Ontario.
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14. Changes In Non-cash Working Capital Balances

Cash generated from (used for) non-cash working capital balances is comprised of the following:

(in millions)     2005  2004

Miscellaneous receivables    $ (59.3) $ 11.2
Inventories     28.7  11.5
Prepaid expenses and other assets     5.4  (21.8)
Accounts payable     (48.1)  7.0
Accrued liabilities     (0.6)  (14.1)
Income and other taxes payable     213.4  17.6

Cash generated from non-cash working capital balances   $ 139.5  $ 11.4

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Minimum capital and operating lease payments, exclusive of property taxes, insurance and other expenses payable 
directly by the Company, having an initial term of more than one year as at December 31, 2005 are as follows: 

(in millions)     Capital Leases  Operating Leases

2006    $ 3.3 $ 122.5
2007     3.1  113.2
2008     2.8  105.3
2009     1.1  86.8
2010     0.9  76.8
Subsequent years     1.6  416.4

Minimum lease payments    $ 12.8 $ 921.0

Less: imputed weighted average interest of 8.8%     2.3

Total capital lease obligations (Note 10)    $ 10.5 

Total rentals charged to earnings under all operating leases for the year ended December 31, 2005 amounted to 
$118.3 million (2004 – $114.5 million).

Three class actions in the provinces of Quebec, Saskatchewan and Ontario were commenced against the Company 
in 2005 arising out of Sears’ pricing of tires. The plaintiffs allege that Sears infl ated the regular retail price of 
certain brands of tires sold by Sears in order to then claim that the same brands were on sale for up to 45% off 
the regular retail price so as to induce potential customers into believing that substantial savings were being 
offered. The plaintiffs seek general damages, special damages, and punitive damages, as well as costs and pre- 
and post-judgment interest. No dollar amounts are specifi ed. The plaintiffs intend to proceed with the Quebec 
action and seek certifi cation as a class action on a national basis. The Company believes these allegations are 
without merit. The outcome of this action is indeterminable, and the monetary damages, if any, cannot be reliably 
estimated. Therefore, the Company has not made a provision for any potential liability.
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Two separate class actions with respect to the Sears Card were fi led against the Company pursuant to Quebec law. 
In the fi rst action, which was fi led in 2000, the petitioner seeks to represent all holders of the Sears Card who have 
paid interest on a balance owing since July 1, 1997. The action alleges that the interest rate charged by the 
Company on unpaid monthly balances of users of the Sears Card is contrary to Quebec law. Sears has agreed with 
the petitioner’s counsel to hold this matter in abeyance, without prejudice to the petitioner’s interest, pending the 
outcome of a similar class action case involving another credit card issuer, which is currently under appeal. The 
Company believes these allegations are without merit. The outcome of this action is indeterminable, and the 
monetary damages, if any, cannot be reliably estimated. Therefore, the Company has not made a provision for any 
potential liability.

In the other action, which was fi led in 2003, the petition alleged that the Company, along with other credit card 
issuers who are also named as defendants, have not given their credit cardholders the required 21-day grace period 
to pay off their obligations without attracting credit charges in accordance with Quebec law. The parties reached a 
settlement without admission of liability by the defendants, which was approved by the Quebec Superior Court in 
early April 2005. The settlement required the Company to repay interest and lost opportunity costs for the period 
of October 3, 2000 to November 25, 2004 to cardholders in Quebec in a total amount which was not material to 
the fi nancial statements.

In addition, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of business. 
Sears is of the view that although the outcome of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, the fi nal 
disposition is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated fi nancial position 
or results of operations.

16. Guarantees

The Company has provided the following signifi cant guarantees to third parties:

Sub-lease agreements

The Company has entered into a number of agreements to sub-lease premises to third parties. The Company retains 
ultimate responsibility to the landlord for payment of amounts under the lease agreements should the sub-lessee fail 
to pay. The total future lease payments under such agreements, included in Note 15 above, are $23.3 million. 

Other indemnifi cation agreements

In the ordinary course of business and in connection with the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations 
(Note 2), the Company provides indemnifi cation commitments to counterparties in transactions such as leasing 
transactions, royalty agreements, service arrangements, investment banking agreements, and indemnifi cation of 
trustees under indentures for outstanding public debt. These indemnifi cation agreements require the Company to 
compensate the counterparties for costs incurred as a result of changes in laws and regulations or as a result of 
litigation claims or statutory claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by a counterparty as a consequence 
of the transaction. The terms of these indemnifi cation agreements will vary based on the contract and typically do 
not provide for any limit on the maximum potential liability. Historically, the Company has not made any signifi cant 
payments under such indemnifi cations and no amount has been accrued in the fi nancial statements with respect to 
these indemnifi cation commitments.
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17. Segmented Information 

Prior to the sale of the majority of the assets and liabilities of the Credit and Financial Services operations in 
November 2005 (Note 2), the Company had three reportable operating segments: Merchandising, Credit and 
Real Estate Joint Venture operations.

• The Merchandising segment includes the Company’s department stores, catalogue operations, furniture and 
appliances stores, dealer stores and outlet stores, as well as the products and services offered under the 
Sears HomeCentral banner and on its website, www.sears.ca.

• Prior to the sale of the majority of the assets and liabilities of the Credit and Financial Services operations, the 
Credit segment fi nanced and managed customer charge account receivables generated from the sale of goods 
and services charged on the Sears Card and Sears MasterCard. Following the sale, income from JPMorgan 
Chase & Co., and costs associated with the Company’s loyalty program, as well as the remaining net assets of 
the Credit segment are recorded in the Merchandising segment.

• The Real Estate Joint Venture segment consists of the Company’s joint venture interests in shopping centres, 
most of which contain a Sears store.

The reportable segments refl ect the basis on which management measures performance and makes decisions 
regarding the allocation of resources. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in 
the Summary of Accounting Policies (Note 1). During the preparation of the fi nancial statements the revenues and 
expenses between segments are eliminated. The Company evaluates the performance of each segment based on 
earnings before interest expense and income taxes, as well as capital employed. The Company does not allocate 
interest expense or income taxes to each segment.

Segmented Statements of Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 are as follows:

      2005        2004

       Real        Real
       Estate        Estate
       Joint        Joint
(in millions)  Mdse.  Credit  Ventures  Total  Mdse.  Credit  Ventures  Total

Operating revenues $ 5,841.6 $ 388.2 $ 52.8 $ 6,282.6 $ 5,814.7 $ 432.0 $ 52.7 $ 6,299.4
Effect from sale of receivables    2.0    2.0    5.8    5.8
Securitization funding costs    (47.0)    (47.0)    (74.7)    (74.7)

Total revenues
8
 $ 5,841.6 $ 343.2 $ 52.8 $ 6,237.6 $ 5,814.7 $ 363.1 $ 52.7 $ 6,230.5

Segment operating profi t $ 140.7 $ 97.7 $ 20.4  258.8 $ 119.9 $ 101.3 $ 26.4  247.6
Interest expense, net        48.9        55.0
Unusual items – (gain) expense        (747.7)        3.2
Income taxes        186.8        60.7

Net earnings       $ 770.8       $ 128.7
8 The real estate joint venture revenues are net of $2.5 million (2004 – $2.6 million) representing the elimination of rental revenues earned from Sears 

department stores. Rental expense of the real estate joint venture segment has been decreased by the same amount, resulting in no effect on the total 
segment operating profi t.
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Segmented Statements of Financial Position as at December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 are as follows:

      2005        2004

       Real        Real
       Estate        Estate
       Joint        Joint
(in millions)  Mdse.  Credit  Ventures  Total  Mdse.  Credit  Ventures  Total

Total assets $ 3,046.0 $ – $ 152.6  $ 3,198.6 $ 2,376.6 $ 1,720.1 $ 165.7 $ 4,262.4
Capital employed  1,255.4  –  139.2  1,394.6  822.7   1,660.0  150.6 $ 2,633.3
Average capital employed  1,016.2  1,227.1  144.8  2,388.1  988.6   1,417.7  157.1 $ 2,563.4
Capital expenditures

9
  83.9  –  2.1  86.0  160.1  –  1.0 $ 161.1

Depreciation and amortization  155.4  –  8.8  164.2  162.3  –  3.7 $ 166.0
9 Capital lease additions of Nil are included in capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2005 (2004 – $5.4 million).

In addition to the information above, the following amounts, with respect to joint ventures, are recorded in the 
Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements:

(in millions)     2005  2004

Current assets    $ 8.2 $ 11.5
Long term assets     144.4  154.2
Total liabilities excluding debt     13.4  15.1

Cash fl ow generated from (used for) – operations     18.0  16.7
  – investing    (2.9)  (0.5)
  – fi nancing    (14.3)  (17.3)



 2005 Annual Report 85

18. Related Party Transactions

Sears Holdings is the benefi cial holder of the majority of the outstanding common shares of Sears Canada Inc., 
holding approximately 53.8% of the common shares of the Company at December 31, 2005.

During the year, Sears Holdings charged the Company $9.3 million (2004 – $13.6 million), and the Company 
charged Sears Holdings $3.7 million (2004 – Nil), in the ordinary course of business for shared merchandise 
purchasing services, employee expenses and software support purchases. These amounts are included in the cost 
of merchandise sold, operating, administrative, and selling expenses.

During 2005, the Company paid Sears Holdings $7.0 million (2004 – $9.3 million) in respect of customer 
cross-border purchases made on the Sears Card. Following the sale of the Credit and Financial Services operations 
on November 15, 2005, cross-border purchases made on the Sears Card are settled between JPMorgan Chase & Co. 
and Sears Holdings.

In connection with the sale of the Company’s Credit and Financial Services operations (Note 2), the Company 
entered into a reimbursement agreement (the “Agreement”) with Sears Holdings. Under the Agreement, Sears 
Canada agreed to implement its proposed wind-up of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Sears Canada Bank, after 
the completion of the sale, rather than immediately before the sale. Sears Holdings has agreed to indemnify 
Sears Canada for the estimated incremental tax liability resulting from the timing of the wind-up, in the amount 
of $4.7 million.

These transactions were recorded at fair market value.

As at December 31, 2005, the following inter-company balances existed related to the above transactions: 
amounts receivable from Sears Holdings totaling $8.4 million (2004 – Nil) and amounts payable to Sears 
Holdings from the Company totaling $0.4 million (2004 – $1.3 million).

During 2005, the Company did not purchase any shares for cancellation under its Normal Course Issuer bid. 
In 2004, the Company purchased 311,501 shares from Sears Roebuck at a weighted average price of $16.22 
(Note 11).



 86 Sears Canada Inc.  

19. Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into fi nancial agreements with banks and other fi nancial 
institutions to reduce underlying risks associated with interest rates and foreign currency. The Company does not 
hold or issue derivative fi nancial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The fi nancial instruments do 
not require the payment of premiums or cash margins prior to settlement. These fi nancial instruments can be 
summarized as follows:

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company enters into foreign exchange contracts to reduce the foreign exchange risk with respect to 
U.S. dollar denominated goods purchased for resale. At the end of 2005 there were U.S. $154.0 million in 
contracts outstanding (2004 – U.S. $160.0 million), with settlement dates over the next 12 months. 

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded a gain of $0.3 million (2004 – $3.0 million), 
relating to the translation or settlement of foreign currency denominated monetary items.

Interest Rate Risk

From time to time the Company enters into interest rate swap contracts with Schedule I banks to manage 
exposure to interest rate risks. Neither the notional principal amounts nor the current replacement value of these 
fi nancial instruments are carried on the consolidated statements of fi nancial position. As at December 31, 2005 
and January 1, 2005, the Company had no interest rate swap contracts in place.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Position

Interest rate risk refl ects the sensitivity of the Company’s fi nancial condition to movements in interest rates. 
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The following table identifi es the Company’s fi nancial assets and liabilities which are sensitive to interest rate 
movements and those which are non-interest rate sensitive. Financial assets and liabilities which do not bear interest 
or bear interest at fi xed rates are classifi ed as non-interest rate sensitive. 

     2005      2004

   Interest  Non-Interest    Interest  Non-Interest
(in millions)  Sensitive  Sensitive  Total  Sensitive  Sensitive  Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 775.1 $ – $ 775.1 $ 78.0 $ – $ 78.0
Investments and other assets  –  –  –  82.3  –  82.3
Accounts receivable (including long-term deferred receivables)

10
  –  54.3  54.3  30.2  1,606.4  1,636.6

Long-term obligations (including current portion)  –  (749.3)  (749.3)  –  (755.9)  (755.9)

Net balance sheet interest rate sensitivity position $ 775.1 $ (695.0) $ 80.1 $ 190.5 $ 850.5 $ 1,041.0
10 The interest sensitive portion of accounts receivable in 2004 related to the interest-only strip receivable which was sold in 2005 (Note 2).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values of fi nancial instruments as at December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005 are based on 
relevant market prices and information available at that time. As a signifi cant number of the Company’s assets and 
liabilities, including inventory and capital assets, do not meet the defi nition of fi nancial instruments, the fair value 
estimates below do not refl ect the fair value of the Company as a whole.

Carrying value approximates fair value for fi nancial instruments which are short-term in nature. These include cash 
and short-term investments, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, accrued 
liabilities, income and other taxes payable, and principal payments on long-term obligations due within one year. 
For fi nancial instruments which are long-term in nature, fair value estimates are as follows:

(in millions)    2005    2004

    Carrying or    Carrying or  
   Notional Amount  Fair Value  Notional Amount  Fair Value

Financial Assets and Liabilities
Investments and other assets  $ – $ – $ 82.3 $ 82.3

Long-term obligations  $ 533.2 $ 530.2 $ 734.6 $ 773.3
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Off-balance sheet Financial Instruments

(in millions)    2005    2004

    Carrying or  Fair Value  Carrying or  Fair Value
   Notional Amount  Premium/(Discount)  Notional Amount Premium/(Discount)

Forward exchange contracts  $ 179.1 $ (4.3) $ 192.3  $ (11.8)

The fair value of investments and other assets, long-term obligations and forward exchange contracts were estimated 
based on quoted market prices, when available, or discounted cash fl ows using discount rates based on market 
interest rates and the Company’s credit rating. As at December 31, 2005, the fair value of the long-term obligations 
is less than its carrying value due to a decline in the Company’s credit rating.

20. Earnings Per Share 

A reconciliation of the number of shares used in the earnings per share calculations is as follows:

(Number of shares)     2005  2004

Average number of shares per basic earnings per share calculation    106,738,733  106,643,131
Effect of dilutive instruments outstanding     456,827  389,931

Average number of shares per diluted earnings per share calculation     107,195,560  107,033,062
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The Board of Directors and management are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. 
The Board believes that strong corporate governance practices are essential to the success of the Company, to 
effective corporate performance and to the best interests of shareholders.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of the Company, acting with a view to 
the best interests of the Company and providing guidance and direction to the management of the Company in order 
to attain corporate objectives and maximize shareholder value. These stewardship functions are carried out directly 
by the Board and through its Committees.

The Board of Directors meets fi ve times each year, with additional meetings held as required. The Directors schedule 
meetings in camera (without management present) after each Board and Committee meeting. In 2005, there were 
eleven meetings of the Board, seven meetings of the Audit Committee, four meetings of the Human Resources and 
Compensation Committee (“HR and Compensation Committee”), four meetings of the Investment Committee and 
four meetings of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (“Governance Committee”). Attendance of 
the Directors at these meetings averaged approximately 95%.

The Audit, HR and Compensation and Governance Committees of the Board are each responsible for certain 
corporate governance functions in accordance with their respective charters. The Governance Committee, however, 
has been assigned the responsibility for monitoring emerging trends and guiding the Company in its approach and 
practices in matters of corporate governance and also oversees, on behalf of the Board, the methods and processes 
for evaluating Board effectiveness and performance. This Committee is satisfi ed that the Company is in conformance 
with the recommended practices of the Toronto Stock Exchange, the Canadian Securities Administrators and other 
regulatory authorities.

The Directors are elected annually by the shareholders. The Board is currently composed of ten Directors. 

As at March 17, 2006, the Company’s signifi cant shareholder, Sears Holdings Corporation, benefi cially holds 
63.2% of the common shares of the Company. Three Directors are executive offi cers of Sears Holdings Corporation, 
six Directors (or 60% of the total number of Directors) are independent of the Company and its affi liates 
(“Independent Directors”) and one Director is related, being the Chief Executive Offi cer. The Board’s composition 
fairly refl ects the investment in the Company by minority shareholders and the independence of the Board 
from management.

The Company has developed a manual which summarizes the corporate governance policies and practices of the 
Company. It outlines, among other things, the composition and operation of the Board, as well as the Committees 
of the Board and the manner in which they are assessed. Copies of the manual are available upon request, as well 
as on the Company’s website at www.sears.ca.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct (“Code”) which applies to every Director, Offi cer and 
employee. The Code provides guidelines and sets out expectations regarding interactions with customers, investors, 
governmental authorities, suppliers of merchandise and services, and fellow associates. It also sets out the ethical 
values and standards of behaviour that apply to all of the Company’s business activities including such matters as 
fair dealing, conduct in the workplace, confl icts of interest, corporate property and records and compliance with 
the laws of all jurisdictions within which the Company conducts business.

The Company has also adopted a corporate Disclosure, Confi dentiality and Insider Trading Policy (“Policy”) which 
refl ects its commitment to providing timely and accurate corporate information to the capital markets, including 
its shareholders, and to the general public. The Policy provides direction and guidance to its Directors, Offi cers 
and employees regarding confi dentiality and disclosure of Company information and insider trading obligations. 
The Policy requires prompt general disclosure of any material information. It also sets out the procedures to be 
followed in communicating with investors, analysts and the media, including press conferences and media 
debriefi ngs via webcast. 

The Company is dedicated to continuing its proactive approach to corporate governance practices, while nurturing, 
enhancing and evolving its strong corporate governance culture. A more detailed description of Corporate 
Governance practices is contained in the Management Proxy Circular of the Company to be dated April, 2006. 
The Directors of the Company, their principal occupations and Committee appointments are listed on page 91 
of this Report. 
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Board of Directors

William D. Anderson, CA  u n
President, BCE Ventures

William C. Crowley
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial and Administrative Offi cer
Sears Holdings Corporation

Brent Hollister
President and Chief Executive Offi cer of
the Corporation

Alan J. Lacy  n
Chairman of the Board, Vice Chairman
Sears Holdings Corporation

Mary Mogford  n5 l
Corporate Director

James W. Moir, Jr.  u5 l
Corporate Director

Morris Perlis  u
Corporate Director

Dene L. Rogers
Executive Vice President Restructuring 
and Business Improvement
Sears Holdings Corporation

C. Wesley M. Scott  u n 5 l
Corporate Director

Carol M. Stephenson  n 5 l
Dean, Richard Ivey School of Business, 
The University of Western Ontario

Committees

 u Audit Committee

 n   Human Resources and Compensation Committee

 5 Investment Committee

 l Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Offi cers

Brent Hollister
President and Chief Executive Offi cer

Richard A. Brown
Senior Vice-President, Merchandising and Marketing

Ajit Khanna
Senior Vice-President, Direct, Dealer and Service Sales

Frances Magliocchi
Senior Vice-President, Human Resources

David B. Merkley
Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Offi cer

Frank Rocchetti
Senior Vice-President and Operations Offi cer

Ethel J. Taylor
Senior Vice-President, Corporate Store Sales

Rudolph R. Vezér
Senior Vice-President and Chief Legal Offi cer



 92 Sears Canada Inc.

Head Offi ce

Sears Canada Inc.
222 Jarvis Street
Toronto, Ontario
M5B 2B8

Website: www.sears.ca
E-mail: home@sears.ca

For more information about the Company, or for 
additional copies of the Annual Report, write to the 
Corporate Communications Department at the Head 
Offi ce of Sears Canada Inc., or call 416-941-4425.

The Company’s regulatory fi lings can be found on the 
SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.

Stock Exchange Listing

Toronto Stock Exchange
Trading symbol: SCC

Transfer Agent and Registrar

CIBC Mellon Trust Company
Toronto, Ontario
Montreal, Québec

Answerline: 416-643-5500
  1-800-387-0825

Website: www.cibcmellon.com

E-Mail: inquiries@cibcmellon.com

Annual and Special Meeting

The Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders of 
Sears Canada Inc. will be held on May 9, 2006 at 
10:00 a.m. in the Burton-Wood Auditorium, Main 
Floor, 222 Jarvis Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Édition française du Rapport annuel

On peut se procurer l’édition française de ce rapport 
en écrivant au:

Service national de communication
Sears Canada Inc.
222 Jarvis Street
Toronto, Ontario
M5B 2B8

Pour de plus amples renseignments au sujet de 
la Société, veuillez écrire au Service national de 
communication, ou composer le 416-941-4425.

Les dépôts réglementaires de la Société fi gurent sur 
le site Web de SEDAR à l’adresse www.sedar.com.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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